
 

 
AGENDA 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
WEINGART BALLROOM 
5000 CLARK AVENUE 

LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 
 

April 13, 2021 
 
 
Pursuant to Governor Newsom’s Executive Order No. N-29-20, members of the City Council of the City of 
Lakewood or staff may participate in this meeting via Zoom video/teleconference.  While maintaining appropriate 
social distancing, members of the public may participate in person at 5000 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, California.  
Public comments and questions pertaining to any item on the agenda will be accepted via email at 
cityclerk@lakewoodcity.org up to 5:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting.  We ask that you please indicate the specific 
item on which you wish to be heard or whether your comments will be under oral communications. 
 
 
SPECIAL MEETING: 5:30 p.m. 
PUBLIC HEARING TO RECEIVE INPUT FROM THE VIA ZOOM VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE 
COMMUNITY REGARDING THE CREATION OF A DISTRICT-BASED ELECTION SYSTEM - It is 
recommended that the City Council: 1) receive a report from staff on the districting process and 
permissible criteria to be considered to create district boundaries; and 2) conduct a public hearing to 
receive public input on district boundaries. 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER 7:30 p.m. 
 
INVOCATION:        
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:        
 
ROLL CALL: Mayor Todd Rogers 
 Vice Mayor Jeff Wood 
 Council Member Steve Croft 
 Council Member Ariel Pe 
 Council Member Vicki Stuckey 
 
ANNUAL REORGANIZATION OF CITY COUNCIL 
Election of Mayor and Vice Mayor 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS: 
Presentation on Donate Life by Lakewood Ambassador Maria Jimenez 
 
ROUTINE ITEMS: 
All items listed within this section of the agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion without separate discussion.  Any Member of Council may request an item be removed for 
individual discussion or further explanation.  All items removed shall be considered immediately 
following action on the remaining items. 
 
RI-1 MEETING MINUTES - Staff recommends City Council approve Minutes of the Meetings held 

March 9, and March 23, 2021 



City Council Agenda 
April 13, 2021 
Page 2 
 
 
ROUTINE ITEMS: - Continued 
RI-2 PERSONNEL TRANSACTIONS - Staff recommends City Council approve report of personnel 

transactions. 
 
RI-3 REGISTERS OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends City Council approve registers of demands. 
 
RI-4 CITY COUNCIL COMMITTEES’ ACTIVITIES - Staff recommends City Council approve report 

of City Council Committees’ activities. 
 
RI-5 AUTHORIZE MAINTENANCE SERVICES AND MODIFICATIONS BY NSWC 

MECHANICAL SERVICE FOR BURNS HVAC SYSTEM - Staff recommends City Council 
approve an HVAC comprehensive maintenance service agreement with NSWC Mechanical Service, 
for a five-year period in an amount not to exceed $58,496, as well as the piping modifications at 
Burns Community Center as a separate amount not to exceed $28,250 and authorize the City 
Manager to sign the agreement in a form approved by the City Attorney; and approve a tolling 
agreement between the City and BasX, the equipment manufacturer, and authorize City Manager to 
sign the agreement in a form approved by the City Attorney. 

 
RI-6 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR PLANT 27 TREATMENT SYSTEM 

REWIRING - Staff recommends City Council appropriate $35,000 in Water Reserve Fund for Plant 
27 Treatment System Rewiring; award a Professional Services Agreement in an amount not to 
exceed $35,000 to Pureflow Filtration Division for Plant 27 Treatment Plant Rewiring and Services; 
and authorize the Mayor to sign the contract in a form approved by the City Attorney. 

 
RI-7 AMENDMENT TO PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR SCADA SYSTEM 

MAINTENANCE - Staff recommends City Council amend the Professional Services Agreement to 
a total amount not to exceed $39,400.00 for FY 2020-2021 and $50,000.00 for FY 2021-2022 with 
Macro Automatics Corporation for SCADA System Maintenance; appropriate $30,100.00 in Water 
Reserve Fund for SCADA System Maintenance for FY 2021-2022; and authorize the Mayor to sign 
the contract in a form approved by the City Attorney. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
1.1 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT ACTION PLAN FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 - 

Staff recommends City Council conduct a public hearing to receive comments on the proposed 
Action Plan and following the public hearing, approve the FY 2021-2022 Action Plan, and authorize 
the City Manager to direct staff to submit to HUD the approved Action Plan along with the required 
CDBG certifications, no later than May 13, 2021. 

 
1.2 AWARD OF BID FOR PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT NO. 2021-1, TRAFFIC SIGNAL 

MODIFICATION ON LAKEWOOD BLVD AT HARDWICK - Staff recommends City Council 
award contract in amount of $287,248.00 to low bidder, Belco Elecnor Electric, Inc. of Chino and 
authorize Mayor to sign contract in a form approved by City Attorney; authorize staff to approve a 
cumulative total of change orders, as needed, not to exceed $62,307; authorize staff to execute 
Willdan’s proposal to provide construction management in amount of $34,845; and adopt plans, 
specifications, and working details for project. 

 



City Council Agenda 
April 13, 2021 
Page 3 
 
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a qualified individual with a disability and need an 
accommodation to participate in the City Council meeting, please contact the City Clerk’s Office, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, 

CA, at 562/866-9771, ext. 2200; or at cityclerk@lakewoodcity.org at least 48 hours in advance to ensure that reasonable 
arrangements can be made to provide accessibility to the meeting. 

 
Agenda items are on file in the Office of the City Clerk, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, and are available for public review 

during regular business hours.  Any supplemental material distributed after the posting of the agenda will be made available for 
public inspection during normal business hours in the City Clerk’s Office.  For your convenience, the agenda and the supporting 

documents are available in an alternate format by request and are also posted on the City’s website at www.lakewoodcity.org 

LEGISLATION: 
2.1 ADOPTION OF SIGNATURE RESOLUTIONS FOR THE REORGANIZATION OF THE CITY 

COUNCIL - Staff recommends City Council adopt proposed resolutions. 
 a. Resolution No. 2021-9; Authorizing the City Treasurer to Deposit Funds for Safekeeping and 

Investment and Authorizing the Withdrawal of Funds from Depositories 
 
 b. Resolution No. 2021-10; Authorizing the Use of the Facsimile Signature of the Mayor in the 

Execution of Public Securities and Instruments of Payment 
 
 c. Resolution No. 2021-11; Authorizing the Use of the Facsimile Signature of the Vice Mayor in the 

Execution of Public Securities and Instruments of Payment 
 
REPORTS: 
3.1 NEW CITY WEBSITE CONTENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM - Staff recommends City Council 

award the service agreement for the design, implementation, maintenance and support of a new City 
website and content management system to OpenCities; and authorize the Mayor to sign the 
agreement with OpenCities, in an amount not to exceed $52,000, of which $32,500 is for one-time 
set up costs and $19,500 for annual maintenance and support costs, subject to the approval as to form 
by the City Attorney. 

 
 

AGENDA 
LAKEWOOD HOUSING SUCCESSOR AGENCY 

1. REGISTER OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends Housing Successor Agency approve registers of 
demands. 

 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 











 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 RI-1 

 Routine Item 1 – City Council Minutes 
 
 will be available prior to the meeting. 









































 
 

1

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
WITH PUREFLOW FILTRATION DIVISION 

 
This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and effective as of April 13, 
2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the City of Lakewood, a California municipal 
corporation, (the “City”) and Pureflow Filtration Division, a division of California 
Environmental Controls, Inc., a California corporation (“Service Provider”).  In 
consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth herein, the parties agree 
as follows: 
 
1. TERM 

This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall remain and continue in 
effect until the Services are completed, unless sooner terminated pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement.   

 
2. SERVICES 

Service Provider shall perform the services described and set forth in Service Provider’s 
Proposal attached hereto as Exhibit A (“Services”), incorporated herein as though set 
forth in full.  

 
3. PERFORMANCE 

Service Provider shall at all times faithfully, competently and to the best of Service 
Provider’s ability, experience, and talent, perform all tasks described herein. Service 
Provider shall employ, at a minimum, generally accepted standards and practices utilized 
by persons engaged in providing similar services as are required of Service Provider 
under this Agreement. 

 
4. CITY MANAGEMENT 

The City Manager or designee shall represent the City in all matters pertaining to the 
administration of this Agreement. 

 
5. PAYMENT 

A. The City agrees to pay Service Provider for Services satisfactorily performed in 
accordance with the fees set forth in Exhibit A, in an amount not to exceed 
$35,000. 

B. Service Provider shall not be compensated for any services rendered in 
connection with its performance of this Agreement which are in addition to those 
set forth herein, unless such additional services are authorized in advance and in 
writing by the City Manager or designee. Service Provider shall be compensated 
for any additional services in the amounts and in the manner as agreed to in 



   2 

C. writing by the City and Service Provider at the time the City’s written authorization 
is given to Service Provider for the performance of said services.   

D. Service Provider will submit invoices monthly for actual Services performed. 
Payment shall be made within thirty (30) days of receipt of each invoice as to all 
non-disputed fees. If the City disputes any of Service Provider's Services or fees, 
it shall give written notice to Service Provider within thirty (30) days of receipt of 
an invoice of any disputed fees set forth on the invoice.  Any final payment under 
this Agreement shall be made within forty-five (45) days of receipt of an invoice 
therefor. 

6. SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT WITHOUT CAUSE 

A. The City may at any time, for any reason, without cause, suspend or terminate 
this Agreement, or any portion hereof, by serving written notice upon Service 
Provider. Upon receipt of said notice, Service Provider shall immediately cease 
all Services under this Agreement, unless the notice provides otherwise. If the 
City suspends or terminates a portion of this Agreement, such suspension or 
termination shall not make void or invalidate the remainder of this Agreement. 

B. In the event this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this section, the City shall 
pay to Service Provider the actual value of the Services performed up to the time 
of termination, unless the City disputes any of the Services performed or fees. 
Upon termination of the Agreement pursuant to this section, Service Provider will 
submit an invoice to the City pursuant to Section 5. 

7. DEFAULT OF SERVICE PROVIDER 

If the City determines that Service Provider is in default in the performance of any of the 
terms or conditions of this Agreement, the City shall serve Service Provider a written 
notice of the default. Service Provider shall have seven (7) days after service of said 
notice to cure the default. In the event that Service Provider fails to cure the default 
within such period of time or fails to present the City with a written plan for the diligent 
cure of default if such default cannot be cured within seven days, the City shall have the 
right, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to terminate this 
Agreement without further notice and without prejudice to any other remedy to which it 
may be entitled at law, in equity or under this Agreement.  The City shall also have the 
right to offset against the amount of any fees due to Service Provider any costs incurred 
by the City as a result of Service Provider’s default.  

8. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 

A. Service Provider shall maintain complete and accurate records with respect to 
tasks, costs, expenses, receipts, and other such information required by the City 
that relate to the performance of Services under this Agreement. Service Provider 
shall maintain adequate records of Services provided in sufficient detail to permit 
an evaluation of Services.  All such records shall be maintained in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles and shall be clearly identified and 



   3 

readily accessible. Service Provider shall provide free access to the 
representatives of the City or its designees at reasonable times to such books and 
records; shall give the City the right to examine and audit said books and records; 
shall permit the City to make transcripts or copies therefrom as necessary; and 
shall allow inspection of all Services, data, documents, proceedings, and activities 
related to this Agreement. Such records, together with supporting documents, 
shall be maintained for a period of three (3) years after receipt of final payment. 

B. Upon completion of, or in the event of termination or suspension of this 
Agreement, all original documents, designs, drawings, maps, models, computer 
files, surveys, notes, and other documents prepared in the course of providing the 
Services shall become the sole property of the City and may be used, reused, or 
otherwise disposed of by the City without the permission of Service Provider. With 
respect to computer files, Service Provider shall make available to the City, at the 
Service Provider's office and upon reasonable written request by the City, the 
necessary computer software and hardware for purposes of accessing, compiling, 
transferring, copying and/or printing computer files. Service Provider hereby 
grants to the City all right, title, and interest, including any copyright, in and to the 
documents, designs, drawings, maps, models, computer files, surveys, notes, and 
other documents prepared by Service Provider in the course of providing the 
Services under this Agreement. 

9. INDEMNIFICATION AND DEFENSE 

A. Indemnity.  

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Service Provider shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the City and any and all of its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and/or volunteers (“Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all losses, 
liabilities, damages, costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees and costs, 
caused in whole or in part by the acts, errors, or omissions of Service Provider, its 
officers, agents, employees, subcontractors, or subService Providers (or any 
agency or individual that Service Provider shall bear the legal liability thereof) in 
the performance of Services under this Agreement.  

 
B. Duty to Defend. 

 In the event the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and/or volunteers 
are made a party to any claim, action, lawsuit, or other adversarial proceeding 
(“Action”) arising from the performance of the Services under this Agreement, 
whether or not Service Provider is named in such Action, and upon demand by the 
City, Service Provider shall defend the City at Service Provider’s sole cost, or at 
the City’s option, to reimburse the City for its costs of defense, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred in the defense.  

 
C. Payment by the City for Services is not a condition precedent to enforcement of 

this section. Service Provider’s duty to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the 



   4 

City shall not extend to the City’s sole or active negligence.  In the event of any 
dispute between Service Provider and the City as to whether liability arises from 
the sole or active negligence of the City or its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and/or volunteers, Service Provider will be obligated to pay for the City’s defense 
until such time as a final judgment has been entered adjudicating the City as solely 
or actively negligent. Service Provider will not be entitled in the absence of such a 
determination to any reimbursement of defense costs including, but not limited to, 
attorney’s fees, expert fees and costs of litigation. 

 
10. INSURANCE 

Service Provider shall maintain prior to the beginning of and for the duration of this 
Agreement insurance coverage as specified in Exhibit B attached hereto and made a 
part of this Agreement. 

 
11. INDEPENDENT SERVICE PROVIDER 

A. Service Provider is and shall at all times remain as to the City a wholly 
independent Service Provider and/or independent contractor. The personnel 
performing the services under this Agreement on behalf of Service Provider shall 
at all times be under Service Provider's exclusive direction and control. Neither 
the City nor any of its officers, employees, or agents shall have control over the 
conduct of Service Provider or any of Service Provider's officers, employees, 
agents, subcontractors, or subService Providers, except as set forth in this 
Agreement. Service Provider shall not at any time or in any manner represent that 
Service Provider or any of Service Provider’s officers, employees,  agents, 
subcontractors, or subService Providers are in any manner officers, employees, 
or agents of the City. Service Provider shall not incur or have the power to incur 
any debt, obligation, or liability whatever against the City, or bind the City in any 
manner. 

B. No employee benefits shall be available to Service Provider in connection with 
the performance of this Agreement. Except for the fees paid to Service Provider 
as provided in the Agreement, the City shall not pay salaries, wages, or other 
compensation to Service Provider for performing services hereunder for the City. 
The City shall not be liable for compensation or indemnification to Service 
Provider for injury or sickness arising out of performing services hereunder. 
Service Provider shall secure, at its sole expense, and be responsible for any and 
all payment of Income Tax, Social Security, State Disability Insurance 
Compensation, Unemployment Compensation, and other payroll deductions for 
Service Provider and its officers, agents, and employees, and all business 
licenses, if any are required, in connection with the services to be performed 
hereunder. Service Provider shall indemnify and hold the City harmless from any 
and all taxes, assessments, penalties, and interest asserted against the City by 
reason of the independent Service Provider relationship created by this 
Agreement. Service Provider further agrees to indemnify and hold the City 
harmless from any failure of Service Provider to comply with the applicable 



   5 

worker’s compensation laws. The City shall have the right to offset against the 
amount of any fees due to Service Provider under this Agreement as a result of 
Service Provider’s failure to promptly pay to the City any reimbursement or 
indemnification arising under this paragraph. 

C. In the event that Service Provider or any employee, agent, subcontractor, or 
subService Provider of Service Provider providing Services under this Agreement 
claims or is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or the California Public 
Employees Retirement System (PERS) to be eligible for enrollment in PERS as 
an employee of the City, Service Provider shall indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the City for the payment of any employee and/or employer contributions 
for PERS benefits on behalf of Service Provider or its employees, agents, 
subcontractors, or subService Providers, as well as for the payment of any 
penalties and interest on such contributions, which would otherwise be the 
responsibility of the City.  

D. Notwithstanding any other agency, state or federal policy, rule, regulation, law or 
ordinance to the contrary, Service Provider and any of its employees, agents, 
subcontractors, and subService Providers providing service under this Agreement 
shall not qualify for or become entitled to, and hereby agree to waive any claims 
to, any compensation, benefit, or any incident of employment by the City, 
including but not limited to eligibility to enroll in PERS as an employee of the City 
and entitlement to any contribution to be paid by City for employer contribution 
and/or employee contributions for PERS benefits. 

12. LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

Service Provider shall keep itself informed of State and Federal laws and regulations 
which in any manner affect those employed by it or in any way affect the performance of 
Services pursuant to this Agreement. Service Provider shall at all times observe and 
comply with all such laws and regulations. The City and its officials, officers, employees, 
and agents, shall not be liable at law or in equity occasioned by failure of Service Provider 
to comply with this Section. 

 
13. UNDUE INFLUENCE 

Service Provider declares and warrants that no undue influence or pressure was used 
against or in concert with any officer or employee of the City in connection with the award, 
terms or implementation of this Agreement, including any method of coercion, confidential 
financial arrangement, or financial inducement. No officer or employee of the City has or 
will receive compensation, directly or indirectly, from Service Provider, or from any officer, 
employee or agent of Service Provider, in connection with this Agreement or any Services 
to be conducted as a result of this Agreement.  Violation of this section shall be a material 
breach of this Agreement entitling the City to any and all remedies at law or in equity. 
 
 

 



   6 

14. NO BENEFIT TO ARISE TO LOCAL EMPLOYEES 

No member, officer, or employee of the City, or their designees or agents, and no public 
official who exercises authority over or responsibilities with respect to the Services during 
his/her tenure or for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in any 
Agreement or sub-agreement, or the proceeds thereof, for Services to be performed 
under this Agreement. 

 
15. RELEASE OF INFORMATION/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

A. All information gained by Service Provider in performance of this Agreement shall 
be considered confidential and shall not be released by Service Provider without 
the City's prior written authorization, unless the information is clearly public. 
Service Provider, its officers, employees, agents, subcontractors, or subService 
Providers, shall not without written authorization from the City Manager or 
designee, or unless requested by the City’s attorney, voluntarily provide 
declarations, letters of support, testimony at depositions, response to 
interrogatories, or other information concerning the Services performed under this 
Agreement or relating to the City. Response to a subpoena or court order shall 
not be considered “voluntary” provided Service Provider gives the City notice of 
such court order or subpoena.  

B. Service Provider shall promptly notify the City should Service Provider, its officers, 
employees, agents, subcontractors, and/or subService Providers be served with 
any summons, complaint, notice of deposition, request for documents, 
interrogatories, request for admissions, or other discovery request (“Discovery”), 
court order, or subpoena from any person or party regarding this Agreement and 
the Services performed hereunder or the City, unless the City is a party to any 
lawsuit, arbitration, or administrative proceeding connected to such Discovery, or 
unless Service Provider is prohibited by law from informing the City of such 
Discovery. The City retains the right, but has no obligation, to represent Service 
Provider and/or be present at any deposition, hearing, or similar proceeding as 
allowed by law. Unless the City is a party to the lawsuit, arbitration, or 
administrative proceeding and is adverse to Service Provider in such proceeding, 
Service Provider agrees to cooperate fully with the City and to provide the 
opportunity to review any response to discovery requests provided by Service 
Provider. However, the City's right to review any such response does not imply or 
mean the right by the City to control, direct, or rewrite said response, or that the 
City has an obligation to review any such response or verifies any response it has 
reviewed. 

16. NOTICES 

Any notices which either party may desire to give to the other party under this 
Agreement must be in writing and may be given either by (i) personal service, (ii) 
delivery by a reputable document delivery service, such as but not limited to, 
Federal Express, which provides a receipt showing date and time of delivery, or 



   7 

(iii) mail by the United States Postal Service, certified mail, postage prepaid, return 
receipt requested, addressed to the address of the party as set forth below or at 
any other address as that party may later designate by notice: 
 
 

  To the City:  City of Lakewood  
     5050 Clark Avenue 
     Lakewood, CA 90712 
     Attention:  City Manager 
   
  To Service Provider:  Pureflow Filtration Division 
       6739 S. Washington Ave 
       Whittier, CA 90601  
       Attention: Archie MacDonald 
 
17. ASSIGNMENT 

Service Provider shall not assign the performance of this Agreement, nor any part thereof, 
nor any monies due hereunder, without prior written consent of the City. Before retaining 
or contracting with any subcontractor or subService Provider for any services under this 
Agreement, Service Provider shall provide the City with the identity of the proposed 
subcontractor or subService Provider, a copy of the proposed written contract between 
Service Provider and such subcontractor or subService Provider which shall include and 
indemnity provision similar to the one provided herein and identifying the City as an 
indemnified party, or an incorporation of the indemnity provision provided herein, and 
proof that such proposed subcontractor or subService Provider carries insurance at least 
equal to that required by this Agreement or obtain a written waiver from the City for such 
insurance. 

 
18. LICENSES 

At all times during the term of this Agreement, Service Provider shall have in full force 
and effect all licenses required of it by law for the performance of the Services described 
in this Agreement. 

 
19. GOVERNING LAW 

The City and Service Provider understand and agree that the laws of the State of 
California shall govern the rights, obligations, duties, and liabilities of the parties to this 
Agreement and also govern the interpretation of this Agreement. Any litigation concerning 
this Agreement shall take place in the municipal, superior, or federal district court with 
jurisdiction over the City. 

 
20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties relating to the 
obligations of the parties described in this Agreement. All prior or contemporaneous 



   8 

agreements, understandings, representations, and statements, oral or written and 
pertaining to the subject of this Agreement or with respect to the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement shall be of no further force or effect. Each party is entering into this 
Agreement based solely upon the representations set forth herein and upon each party’s 
own independent investigation of any and all facts such party deems material. 
 
 
21. AMENDMENTS 

Any amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and executed by the parties hereto, 
or their respective successors and assigns, in order to be valid. 
 
22. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

In the event that litigation is brought by any party in connection with this Agreement, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the opposing party all costs and 
expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the prevailing party in the 
exercise of any of its rights or remedies hereunder or the enforcement of any of the terms, 
conditions, or provisions hereof. 

23. CONSTRUCTION 

The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this 
Agreement.  In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises with 
respect to this Agreement, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the 
parties and in accordance with its fair meaning.  There shall be no presumption or burden 
of proof favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

24. WAIVER 

The delay or failure of any party at any time to require performance or compliance by the 
other of any of its obligations or agreements shall in no way be deemed a waiver of those 
rights to require such performance or compliance.  No waiver of any provision of this 
Agreement shall be effective unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized 
representative of the party against whom enforcement of a waiver is sought. The waiver 
of any right or remedy in respect to any occurrence or event shall not be deemed a waiver 
of any right or remedy in respect to any other occurrence or event, nor shall any waiver 
constitute a continuing waiver.   

25. SEVERABILITY 

If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
unenforceable in any circumstance, such determination shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or of the offending provision 
in any other circumstance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the value of this Agreement, 
based upon the substantial benefit of the bargain for any party, is materially impaired, 
which determination made by the presiding court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction 



   9 

shall be binding, then both parties agree to substitute such provision(s) through good faith 
negotiations. 

26. COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one 
agreement. 

27. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT 

The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties warrant and represent that 
they have the authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of said parties and have the 
authority to bind the parties to the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 
as of the Effective Date. 
 
[If Service Provider is a corporation, two signatures are required: Signature 1 – the Chairperson of the 
Board, the President, or any Vice President; Signature 2 – the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, the 
Chief Financial Officer, or any Assistant Treasurer (Corp. Code § 313).] 

 
CITY OF LAKEWOOD      SERVICE PROVIDER   
  
 

 
____________________________   ____________________________ 
Mayor            
 
 
ATTEST:      SERVICE PROVIDER 
 
 
______________________   _________________________ 
City Clerk       
        
   
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________ 
City Attorney 
 
 
Attachments:   Exhibit A Service Provider’s Proposal 
   Exhibit B Insurance Requirements  



   10

EXHIBIT A 
 

SERVICE PROVIDER’S PROPOSAL 
 

 
  



   11

EXHIBIT B 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Without limiting Service Provider’s indemnification of the City, and prior to 
commencement of Services, Service Provider shall obtain, provide, and maintain at its 
own expense during the term of this Agreement, policies of insurance of the type and 
amounts described below and in a form satisfactory to the City. If the Service Provider 
maintains higher limits than the minimum limits shown below, the City requires and shall 
be entitled to coverage for the higher limits maintained by Service Provider. Any available 
insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage 
shall be available to the City. 
 
General liability insurance. Service Provider shall maintain commercial general liability 
insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01, 
in an amount not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate, 
for bodily injury, personal injury, and property damage. The policy must include 
contractual liability that has not been amended. Any endorsement restricting standard 
ISO “insured contract” language will not be accepted.  
 
Automobile liability insurance. Service Provider shall maintain automobile insurance 
at least as broad as Insurance Services Office form CA 00 01 covering bodily injury and 
property damage for all activities of the Service Provider arising out of or in connection 
with Work to be performed under this Agreement, including coverage for any owned, 
hired, non-owned or rented vehicles, in an amount not less than $1,000,000 combined 
single limit for each accident.  
 
Service Provider shall submit to the City, along with the certificate of insurance, a Waiver 
of Subrogation endorsement in favor of the City, its officers, agents, employees, and 
volunteers. 
 
Umbrella or excess liability insurance. Service Provider shall obtain and maintain an 
umbrella or excess liability insurance policy with limits that will provide bodily injury, 
personal injury and property damage liability coverage at least as broad as the primary 
coverages set forth above, including commercial general liability, automobile liability, and 
employer’s liability. Such policy or policies shall include the following terms and 
conditions: 
 

• A drop-down feature requiring the policy to respond if any primary insurance 
that would otherwise have applied proves to be uncollectible in whole or in 
part for any reason;  

• Pay on behalf of wording as opposed to reimbursement;   
• Concurrency of effective dates with primary policies;  
• Policies shall “follow form” to the underlying primary policies; and 
• Insureds under primary policies shall also be insureds under the umbrella 

or excess policies. 



   12

 
Other provisions or requirements 
 
Proof of insurance. Service Provider shall provide certificates of insurance to the City 
as evidence of the insurance coverage required herein, along with a waiver of subrogation 
endorsement for workers’ compensation. Insurance certificates and endorsements must 
be approved by the City’s Risk Manager prior to commencement of performance. Current 
certification of insurance shall be kept on file with the City at all times during the term of 
this Agreement. The City reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all 
required insurance policies at any time.  
 
Duration of coverage. Service Provider shall procure and maintain for the duration of 
the Agreement insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property, 
which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the Services hereunder by 
Service Provider, or Service Provider’s agents, representatives, employees, 
subcontractors, or subService Providers.  
 
Primary/noncontributing. Coverage provided by Service Provider shall be primary and 
any insurance or self-insurance procured or maintained by the City shall not be required 
to contribute with it. The limits of insurance required herein may be satisfied by a 
combination of primary and umbrella or excess insurance. Any umbrella or excess 
insurance shall contain or be endorsed to contain a provision that such coverage shall 
also apply on a primary and non-contributory basis for the benefit of the City before the 
City’s own insurance or self-insurance shall be called upon to protect it as a named 
insured. 
 
The City’s rights of enforcement. In the event any policy of insurance required under 
this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled and not replaced, 
the City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary and any 
premium paid by the City will be promptly reimbursed by Service Provider or the City will 
withhold amounts sufficient to pay premium from Service Provider payments. In the 
alternative, the City may immediately terminate this Agreement. 
 
Acceptable insurers. All insurance policies shall be issued by an insurance company 
currently authorized by the Insurance Commissioner to transact business of insurance or 
is on the List of Approved Surplus Line Insurers in the State of California, with an assigned 
policyholders’ Rating of A- (or higher) and Financial Size Category Class VII (or larger) in 
accordance with the latest edition of Best’s Key Rating Guide, unless otherwise approved 
by the City’s Risk Manager. 
 
Waiver of subrogation. All insurance coverage maintained or procured pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be endorsed to waive subrogation against the City, its elected or 
appointed officers, agents, officials, employees and volunteers or shall specifically allow 
Service Provider or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these 
specifications to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Service Provider hereby 



   13

waives its own right of recovery against the City, and shall require similar written express 
waivers and insurance clauses from each of its subcontractors or subService Providers. 
 
Enforcement of Agreement provisions (non estoppel). Service Provider 
acknowledges and agrees that any actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to 
inform Service Provider of non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional 
obligations on the City nor does it waive any rights hereunder. 
 
Requirements not limiting. Requirements of specific coverage features or limits 
contained in this Agreement are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits or other 
requirements, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. Specific 
reference to a given coverage feature is for purposes of clarification only as it pertains to 
a given issue and is not intended by any party or insured to be all inclusive, or to the 
exclusion of other coverage, or a waiver of any type.  
 
Notice of cancellation. Service Provider agrees to oblige its insurance agent or broker 
and insurers to provide to the City with a thirty (30) day notice of cancellation (except for 
nonpayment for which a ten (10) day notice is required) or nonrenewal of coverage for 
each required coverage. 
 
Additional insured status. General liability policies shall provide or be endorsed to 
provide that the City and its officers, officials, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be 
additional insureds under such policies. This provision shall also apply to any 
excess/umbrella liability policies. 
 
Prohibition of undisclosed coverage limitations. None of the coverages required 
herein will be in compliance with these requirements if they include any limiting 
endorsement of any kind that has not been first submitted to the City and approved of in 
writing. 
 
Separation of insureds. A severability of interests provision must apply for all additional 
insureds ensuring that Service Provider’s insurance shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the insurer’s 
limits of liability. The policy(ies) shall not contain any cross-liability exclusions. 
 
Pass through clause. Service Provider agrees to ensure that its subcontractors or 
subService Providers, and any other party involved with the Services who is brought onto 
or involved in the Services by Service Provider, provide the same minimum insurance 
coverage and endorsements required of Service Provider. Service Provider agrees to 
monitor and review all such coverage and assumes all responsibility for ensuring that 
such coverage is provided in conformity with the requirements of this section. Service 
Provider agrees that upon request, all agreements with Service Providers, 
subcontractors, subService Providers, and others engaged in the Services will be 
submitted to the City review. 
 



   14

The City’s right to revise specifications. The City reserves the right at any time during 
the term of the Agreement to change the amounts and types of insurance required by 
giving Service Provider ninety (90) days advance written notice of such change. If such 
change results in substantial additional cost to Service Provider, the City and Service 
Provider may renegotiate Service Provider’s compensation or come to some other 
agreement to address the additional cost. 
 
Self-insured retentions. Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved 
by the City. The City reserves the right to require that self-insured retentions be 
eliminated, lowered, or replaced by a deductible. Self-insurance will not be considered to 
comply with these specifications unless approved by the City.  
 
Timely notice of claims. Service Provider shall give the City prompt and timely notice of 
claims made or suits instituted that arise out of or result from Service Provider’s 
performance under this Agreement, and that involve or may involve coverage under any 
of the required liability policies. 
 
Additional insurance. Service Provider shall also procure and maintain, at its own cost 
and expense, any additional kinds of insurance, which in its own judgment may be 
necessary for its proper protection and prosecution of the Services.   

 









 

 
1 

 FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT 
 FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR 
 SCADA SYSTEM MAINTENANCE 
 
 
 

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT, to Agreement is made and entered into on April 13, 2021, 
by and between the CITY OF LAKEWOOD, a municipal corporation, sometimes hereinafter 
referred to as CITY, and MACRO AUTOMATICS CORPORATION, sometimes hereinafter 
referred to as SERVICE PROVIDER. 

 
 W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
WHEREAS, on July 1, 2020, the CITY and SERVICE PROVIDER entered into an Agreement 
entitled “PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR SCADA SYSTEM MAINTENANCE”; and  

 
WHEREAS, the CITY and SERVICE PROVIDER desire to increase the existing 

compensation for services from $19,900.00 to $39,400.00 for FY 2021 and from $19,900.00 to 
$50,000.00 for FY 2022, 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties that: 

 
COMPENSATION FOR SERVICES. The City agrees to pay to SERVICE PROVIDER a 

sum not to exceed $39,400.00 for FY 2021 and $50,000.00 for FY 2022  
 
 All of the terms and conditions of the AGREEMENT not modified by this First 
Amendment shall remain in full force and effect.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 
the day and year first above written. 
 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD                         
 

By: ______________________________ 
Mayor                                                

 
SERVICE PROVIDER 

 
By:______________________________  

    Macro Automatics Corporation 
 
Assigned to the Director of Water Resources 





 



















































































CPMP Non-State Grantee 

Certifications 

 

 This certification does not apply. 

 This certification is applicable.  

NON-STATE GOVERNMENT CERTIFICATIONS 
In accordance with the applicable statutes and the regulations governing the consolidated plan 

regulations, the jurisdiction certifies that: 

Affirmatively Further Fair Housing -- The jurisdiction will affirmatively further fair housing, which means it will 

conduct an analysis of impediments to fair housing choice within the jurisdiction, take appropriate actions to overcome 

the effects of any impediments identified through that analysis, and maintain records reflecting that analysis and 

actions in this regard. 

Anti-displacement and Relocation Plan -- It will comply with the acquisition and relocation requirements of the 

Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended, and implementing 

regulations at 49 CFR 24; and it has in effect and is following a residential anti-displacement and relocation assistance 

plan required under section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended, in 

connection with any activity assisted with funding under the CDBG or HOME programs.   

Drug Free Workplace -- It will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:  

1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a 

controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees 

for violation of such prohibition; 

2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about –  

a. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;  

b. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;  

c. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and  

d. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations occurring in the workplace;  

3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be given a copy of the statement 

required by paragraph 1;  

4. Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph 1 that, as a condition of employment under the grant, the 

employee will –  

a. Abide by the terms of the statement; and  

b. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug statute occurring in the workplace 

no later than five calendar days after such conviction.  

5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under subparagraph 4(b) from an employee or 

otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.  Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including 

position title, to every grant officer or other designee on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the 

Federal agency has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices.  Notice shall include the identification number(s) 

of each affected grant;  

6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under subparagraph 4(b), with respect to any 

employee who is so convicted –  

a. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including termination, consistent with the 

requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended; or  

b. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for 

such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health, law enforcement, or other appropriate agency.  

7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through implementation of paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 

and 6. 



Anti-Lobbying -- To the best of the jurisdiction's knowledge and belief:  

 No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of it, to any person for influencing or 

attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 

an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal 

grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, 

amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement;  

 If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or 

attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 

an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, it will 

complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying," in accordance with its instructions; and  

 It will require that the language of paragraph 1 and 2 of this anti-lobbying certification be included in the award 

documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative 

agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

Authority of Jurisdiction -- The consolidated plan is authorized under State and local law (as applicable) and the jurisdiction 

possesses the legal authority to carry out the programs for which it is seeking funding, in accordance with applicable HUD 

regulations. 

Consistency with plan -- The housing activities to be undertaken with CDBG, HOME, ESG, and HOPWA funds are consistent 

with the strategic plan. 

Section 3 -- It will comply with section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, and implementing regulations at 

24 CFR Part 135. 

 

 

Signature/Authorized Official          Date 

Thaddeus McCormack 

Name 

City Manager 

Title 

5050 North Clark Avenue 

Address 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

City/State/Zip 

 

 

Telephone Number 

  

April 13, 2021 

 

562-866-9771 



 This certification does not apply. 

 This certification is applicable.  

Specific CDBG Certifications 

The Entitlement Community certifies that: 

Citizen Participation -- It is in full compliance and following a detailed citizen participation plan that satisfies the requirements 

of 24 CFR 91.105. 

Community Development Plan -- Its consolidated housing and community development plan identifies community development 

and housing needs and specifies both short-term and long-term community development objectives that provide decent housing, 

expand economic opportunities primarily for persons of low and moderate income. (See CFR 24 570.2 and CFR 24 part 570) 

Following a Plan -- It is following a current consolidated plan (or Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy) that has been 

approved by HUD.  

Use of Funds -- It has complied with the following criteria: 

 Maximum Feasible Priority - With respect to activities expected to be assisted with CDBG funds, it certifies that it has 

developed its Action Plan so as to give maximum feasible priority to activities which benefit low and moderate income families 

or aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight. The Action Plan may also include activities which the grantee 

certifies are designed to meet other community development needs having a particular urgency because existing conditions 

pose a serious and immediate threat to the health or welfare of the community, and other financial resources are not available);  

 Overall Benefit - The aggregate use of CDBG funds including section 108 guaranteed loans during program year(s) 2015-

2016 (a period specified by the grantee consisting of one program year), shall principally benefit persons of low- and moderate-

income in a manner that ensures that at least 70% of the amount is expended for activities that benefit such persons during the 

designated period; 

 Special Assessments - It will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public improvements assisted with CDBG funds 

including Section 108 loan guaranteed funds by assessing any amount against properties owned and occupied by persons of 

low- and moderate-income, including any fee charged or assessment made as a condition of obtaining access to such public 

improvements. 

However, if CDBG funds are used to pay the proportion of a fee or assessment that relates to the capital costs of public 

improvements (assisted in part with CDBG funds) financed from other revenue sources, an assessment or charge may be made 

against the property with respect to the public improvements financed by a source other than CDBG funds. 

The jurisdiction will not attempt to recover any capital costs of public improvements assisted with CDBG funds, including 

Section 108, unless CDBG funds are used to pay the proportion of fee or assessment attributable to the capital costs of public 

improvements financed from other revenue sources. In this case, an assessment or charge may be made against the property 

with respect to the public improvements financed by a source other than CDBG funds. Also, in the case of properties owned 

and occupied by moderate-income (not low income) families, an assessment or charge may be made against the property for 

public improvements financed by a source other than CDBG funds if the jurisdiction certifies that it lacks CDBG funds to 

cover the assessment. 



Excessive Force -- It has adopted and is enforcing: 

 A policy prohibiting the use of excessive force by law enforcement agencies within its jurisdiction against any individuals 

engaged in non-violent civil rights demonstrations; and 

 A policy of enforcing applicable State and local laws against physically barring entrance to or exit from a facility or 

location which is the subject of such non-violent civil rights demonstrations within its jurisdiction; 

Compliance With Anti-discrimination laws -- The grant will be conducted and administered in conformity with title VI of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC 2000d), the Fair Housing Act (42 USC 3601-3619), and implementing regulations. 

Lead-Based Paint -- Its activities concerning lead-based paint will comply with the requirements of part 35, subparts A, B, J, K 

and R, of title 24; 

Compliance with Laws -- It will comply with applicable laws. 

 

 

Signature/Authorized Official                  Date 

Thaddeus McCormack 

Name 

City Manager 

Title 

5050 North Clark Avenue 

Address 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

City/State/Zip 

 

 

Telephone Number 

  

April 13, 2021 

May 10, 2016 

 

562-866-9771 



 This certification does not apply. 

 This certification is applicable.  

APPENDIX TO CERTIFICATIONS 

Instructions Concerning Lobbying and Drug-Free Workplace Requirements 

Lobbying Certification  
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered 

into.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 

31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 

and not more than $100,000 for each such failure. 

Drug-Free Workplace Certification 

1. By signing and/or submitting this application or grant agreement, the grantee is providing the certification.  

 The certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant.  

If it is later determined that the grantee knowingly rendered a false certification, or otherwise violates the requirements 

of the Drug-Free Workplace Act, HUD, in addition to any other remedies available to the Federal Government, may take 

action authorized under the Drug-Free Workplace Act.  

 Workplaces under grants, for grantees other than individuals, need not be identified on the certification. If known, 

they may be identified in the grant application. If the grantee does not identify the workplaces at the time of application, 

or upon award, if there is no application, the grantee must keep the identity of the workplace(s) on file in its office and 

make the information available for Federal inspection.  Failure to identify all known workplaces constitutes a violation 

of the grantee's drug-free workplace requirements.  

 Workplace identifications must include the actual address of buildings (or parts of buildings) or other sites where 

work under the grant takes place. Categorical descriptions may be used (e.g., all vehicles of a mass transit authority or 

State highway department while in operation, State employees in each local unemployment office, performers in concert 

halls or radio stations). 

 If the workplace identified to the agency changes during the performance of the grant, the grantee shall inform the 

agency of the change(s), if it previously identified the workplaces in question (see paragraph three).  

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in connection with the specific 

grant: Place of Performance (Street address, city, county, state, zip code) Check if there are workplaces on file that are not 

identified here. The certification with regard to the drug-free workplace is required by 24 CFR part 21. 

 

Place Name Street City County State Zip 

City of Lakewood 5050 N. Clark Ave.  Lakewood  Los Angeles  CA 90712 

                                 

 

 Definitions of terms in the Nonprocurement Suspension and Debarment common rule and Drug-Free Workplace 

common rule apply to this certification. Grantees' attention is called, in particular, to the following definitions from these 

rules: "Controlled substance" means a controlled substance in Schedules I through V of the Controlled Substances Act 

(21 U.S.C. 812) and as further defined by regulation (21 CFR 1308.11 through 1308.15); "Conviction" means a finding 

of guilt (including a plea of nolo contendere) or imposition of sentence, or both, by any judicial body charged with the 

responsibility to determine violations of the Federal or State criminal drug statutes; "Criminal drug statute" means a 

Federal or non-Federal criminal statute involving the manufacture, distribution, dispensing, use, or possession of any 

controlled substance; "Employee" means the employee of a grantee directly engaged in the performance of work under 

a grant, including: All "direct charge" employees; all "indirect charge" employees unless their impact or involvement is 

insignificant to the performance of the grant; and temporary personnel and consultants who are directly engaged in the 

performance of work under the grant and who are on the grantee's payroll.  This definition does not include workers not 

on the payroll of the grantee (e.g., volunteers, even if used to meet a matching requirement; consultants or independent 

contractors not on the grantee's payroll; or employees of subrecipients or subcontractors in covered workplaces). 

  



Note that by signing these certifications, certain documents must be completed, in use, and on file for verification.  These 

documents include: 

1. Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing 

2. Citizen Participation Plan 

3. Anti-displacement and Relocation Plan 

 

 

Signature/Authorized Official                   Date 

Thaddeus McCormack 

Name 

City Manager 

Title 

5050 North Clark Avenue 

Address 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

City/State/Zip 

 

 

Telephone Number 

April 13, 2021 

 

562-866-9771 



















º

BG 1

BG 2

BG 3

BG 4

BG 1

BG 4

BG 3

BG 2

BG 4

BG 1

BG 2BG 1BG 3

BG 1

BG 2

BG 1

BG 2

BG 1

555103555102555001

570002 570001

570902
570702

570701

571101

571300

570003

571102
571000

555104

570901
570800

571400
555002

571503

CDBG ELIGIBLE AREAS

DATA FROM FY 2018 CDBG GRANTEES AND 2011-2015 ACS LMISD,
BY HUD OFFICE OF COMMUNITY PLANNNING AND DEVELOPMENT0 0.5 1

Mile

        ACTION PLAN 2021 - 2022

CDBG EXCEPTION CRITERIA AREA
(MIN 43.05% LMI)
CDBG TARGET AREA



Pathways Volunteer
Hospice

Human Services Association
(Bell Gardens, CA)

Meals on Wheels
Community Family Guidance

Fair Housing

  
  

PUBLIC SERVICE PROGRAMS

º
0 0.5 10.25

Miles

ACTION PLAN FY 2021-2022





 

 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN 

(For all Federally Funded Grant Programs) 
 

A. INTRODUCTION 

Pursuant to Section 104(a)(3) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as 
amended, the City adopted this Citizen Participation Plan in July 1978 (revised October 1981, 
June 1988, June 1995, May 2001, May 2005, and April 2020.)  By doing so, the City 
acknowledges the integral role of citizen participation in the process of planning and 
development and the execution of the Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG) 
and all other Federally funded grant programs.   

The plan outlines basic tenets of the citizen participation process and regulations.  The citizen 
participation regulations remain in effect throughout the implementation of the City’s 
entitlement award from the federal government, or until the funds are completely exhausted.   
 
The Lakewood’s Citizen Participation Plan is composed of the following parts:   

A. Lakewood Citizen Participation Plan (Purpose) 

B. Definitions 

C. Role of Citizens 

D. Guidelines for Citizen Participation  

1. Consolidated Plan and Action Plan  

2. Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER)  

3. Public Hearings  

4. Information Access 

5. Non-English Speaking Residents 

6. Persons with Disabilities 

7. Program Amendments 

8. Technical Assistance 

E. Citizen Service Requests and Grievance Procedure 

B. LAKEWOOD CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN 

The Citizen Participation Plan is designed to facilitate two-way communication between the City 
and its residents on matters pertaining to the use of all Federal Grant funding from the US 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  Under this plan, citizens are 
encouraged to participate in application development, program implementation, assessment of 
performance, submission of views and proposals, consideration of objections to applications, 



 

 

complaints, technical assistance, public hearings, bilingual dissemination, when appropriate, 
and program amendments.  The Lakewood Citizen Participation Plan: 

 Provides greater visibility of the City of Lakewood Community Development 
Department’s improvement programs;  

 Encourages citizen involvement in neighborhood improvement activities;  

 Ensures equitable representation of all segments of the population; and  

 Describes the process to enlist citizen participation in the development of the City’s 
Five-year Consolidated Plan, the Annual Action Plan, the Consolidated Annual 
Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER), and any Substantial Amendments to the 
Consolidated Plan or Action Plan.    

 

DEFINITIONS 

Five-Year Consolidated Plan:  This document is submitted to HUD every five years and serves as 
the 5-year planning document of the City and application for funding for CDBG, HOME, and 
other federally funded programs.  The Consolidated Plan consists of the following primary 
components: a needs assessment and an analysis which identifies priorities and a strategy 
which establishes goals and objectives for addressing priority needs and time frames for 
achievements. 

One-Year Action Plan:  This document is submitted to HUD every year and updates the 
Consolidated Plan and allocates one year’s CDBG funding, including any program income 
generated from CDBG.  The Action Plan is developed to identify the actions that will be taken 
and projects that will be funded to meet the strategy’s goals and objectives. 

Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER):  This document reports on 
the progress made in carrying out the Consolidated Plan and Action Plan.   

Public Hearing:  A public hearing is a public meeting that has been publicly noticed in a local 
newspaper of general circulation, or noticed in a fashion which otherwise follows local 
procedures for formal noticing of public hearings.  Public hearings are required prior to the 
adoption of the Consolidated Plan, Action Plan, and Substantial Amendments to either plan.   

Urgency Needs:   A Federal, State or Local declared Emergency or Crisis.  

C. ROLE OF CITIZENS 

Citizen involvement is vital to assure that neighborhood improvement policies, procedures, 
programs and activities are well suited to local needs.  Individual neighborhoods possess unique 
qualities that are more fully understood at the community level among those who reside, own 
property, or work within these areas.  This knowledge is invaluable to the successful 
revitalization of communities.   
 
Residents’ concerns and ideas may be articulated to the City’s Planning and Environment 
Commission (PEC). The PEC is an advisory body to the City Council regarding community 



 

 

development improvement issues. The PEC addresses itself to the development, review, and 
adoption of the following ideas: 

 The City’s Consolidated Plan and Action Plan (includes all Federal Grant Applications); 

 The submission of the City’s Performance Report (CAPER);  

 Community development strategies, programs, policies, and procedures;  

 The Citizen Participation Plan  

Regular meetings of the PEC are conducted on a monthly basis, and special meetings may also 
be held during any month at the order the Commission Chairperson, should the need arise.  A 
current schedule of PEC meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office located at City 
Hall, 5050 North Clark Avenue, Lakewood, California 90712, or by calling (562) 866-9771.   

All meetings take place in the Council Chambers at the Civic Center, 5000 Clark Avenue, 
Lakewood, California 90712 unless another location is publicized in advance.  In the event of 
Urgency Needs, specific procedural changes such as conducting virtual meetings or via 
tele/video conferencing may be implemented.  The agenda for each PEC meeting is posted at 
the Council Chambers and on the City’s website at www.lakewoodcity.org at least 72 hours 
prior to the meeting.  Public hearing notices for PEC meetings are posted at the following 
locations at least 72 hours prior to any hearing:   

Lakewood City Hall 

City Clerk’s Office 

5050 Clark Avenue 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

Bloomfield Park 

21420 Pioneer Blvd. 

Lakewood, CA 90715 

Mayfair Park 

5720 N. Clark Avenue 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

D. GUIDELINES FOR CITIZEN PARTICIPATION 

The Citizen Participation Plan process provides residents of the City the formal opportunity to 
take part in the development of community development programs and amendments to 
adopted plans, at the community wide-level in a public forum, before the PEC.  The specific 
guidelines governing information access, public notices, and technical assistance, among 
others, that the City will follow to encourage citizen participation in the preparation of the 
Consolidated Plan and submission of the Performance Report are listed below: 

http://www.lakewoodcity.org/


 

 

Consolidated Plan and Action Plan:  

Following the preparation of the Consolidated Plan/Action Plan, the following steps will be 
taken to afford the public an adequate opportunity to review and comment on the document: 

1. Summary describing the contents of the purpose of the proposed Consolidated 
Plan/Action Plan will be public in at least one local City newspaper of general circulation.  
The summary will also include a list of locations where a complete draft of the 
Consolidated Plan/Action Plan can be obtained. 

2. The publication of the summary will commence a 30-day public review period during 
which citizens will have the opportunity to examine the proposed Consolidated 
Plan/Action Plan and submit comments regarding the draft document.  Complete copies 
of the draft Consolidated Plan/Action Plan will be available for review at the City’s 
website at www.lakewoodcity.org and at the following locations: 

Lakewood City Hall 

Community Development Department 

5050 Clark Avenue 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

Lakewood City Hall 

City Clerk’s Office 

5050 Clark Avenue 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

Iacoboni Library 

4990 N. Clark Avenue 

Lakewood, CA 90712 

3. A public hearing before the PEC will be held to further provide citizens an opportunity to 
comment on the draft Consolidated Plan/Action Plan.  All guidelines set forth under the 
Public Hearing section of this document will be followed to ensure and encourage 
citizen participation. 

Consolidated Plan Amendments 

The City shall complete a substantial amendment to the Consolidated Plan when a Priority 
Need is added or removed from the Consolidated Plan. 

Action Plan Amendments  

The City shall follow the following procedure to complete substantial and minor amendments 
to the Action Plan, as needed. 
 

http://www.lakewoodcity.org/


 

 

The City shall substantially amend the Action Plan if a substantial change is proposed by City 
staff or the City Council. For the purpose of the Action Plan, a "substantial change" is defined 
as:  

▪ Addition of a new activity not previously identified in the Action Plan, without regard to 
funding source;  

▪ Cancellation of an existing activity identified in the Action Plan, without regard to 
funding source;   

▪ A change in the purpose, scope, location or beneficiaries of an activity; or  
▪ Changes in the use of CDBG funds from one eligible activity to another eligible activity 

meeting the following thresholds:  
 

Net Increase or Decrease Trigger of Substantial 
Amendment* 

Minor Amendment* 

Net Increase > 30% of the most recent 
grant allocation 

<30% of the most recent grant 
allocation 

Net Decrease > 30% of the most recent 
grant allocation 

<30% of the most recent grant 
allocation 

* (Amended amounts will not be cumulative, that is, each amendment will stand on its own for 

purposes of determining the 30 percent threshold.)  

 

The City may make minor changes to the Action Plan, including any changes not included in the 
definition of a “substantial change” above, as needed, so long as the changes do not constitute 
a substantial amendment as described above. Such minor changes to the Action Plan do not 
require a public review and comment period or a public hearing. However, City Council 
approval of activity funding changes may be required based on the amount and City policy.  
 
Urgency Needs: 
Upon the Declaration of a Federal, State, or Local Emergency, the public participation process 
may be modified as determined by the HUD. 

Performance Report  

Upon completion of the Performance Report, and prior to its submission to HUD, a public 
notice will be published in at least one local newspaper servicing the residents of Lakewood 
announcing the availability of the report for review and comment.  Publication of this notice 
will commence a 15-day period during which citizens will have the opportunity to examine the 
Performance Report and submit comments regarding the document.   



 

 

 Analysis of Impediments or Assessment of Fair Housing (AI or AFH)  

The Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice (AI) or Assessment of Fair Housing (AFH) is 
a five-year plan completed by the City individually or as part of a local consortium of other HUD 
grantees pursuant to HUD guidance for the evaluation of local housing conditions, economics, 
policies and practices and the extent to which these factors impact the range of housing choices 
and opportunities available to all residents in an environment free from discrimination. As of 
April 2019, HUD has suspended the AFH planning framework. HUD currently requires the 
submission of an AI for grantees submitting Consolidated Plans for FY 2020-2024.  If HUD 
renews the AFH planning framework, the AFH will replace the AI in the context and 
implementation of this section.  
 

Public Hearings:  
 
Public hearings shall provide the major source of citizen input on the proposed community 
development program, activities, policies, and procedures.  At a minimum, the City will conduct 
two separate public hearings—one for the purpose of reviewing the draft Consolidated Plan 
and the second for the purpose of reviewing program performance and progress through the 
submission of the Performance Report.  All public hearings will be made accessible to persons 
with disabilities upon request.  

To ensure that all City residents have ample opportunity to take notice of all scheduled public 
hearings, all notices regarding such hearings, including the date, time, and location shall be 
published in at least one local City newspaper of general circulation a minimum of 14 days prior 
to the date of the public hearing. 

Information Access 

Included in the Consolidated Plan will be the estimated amount of federal funding available to 
the City, and the range of eligible activities, programs, and projects designed to utilize these 
available funds.  Copies of the Consolidated Plan, Action Plan, Citizen Participation Plan, CAPER, 
and documents regarding other important program requirements, including contracting 
procedures, environmental policies, fair housing/equal opportunity requirements, and 
relocation provisions will be available to the public at the City’s website at 
www.lakewoodcity.org and during the regular business hours of 7:30 a.m. to 5:30 p.m., 
Monday through Thursday and alternative Fridays from 7:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  City Hall is 
closed every other Friday. 

The City’s Community Development Department is located at 5050 N. Clark Avenue, Lakewood, 
CA 90712.  Additional information and assistance may be obtained by calling 562-866-9771. 

Non-English Speaking Residents  

It is the intent of the City to also allow for input by all non-English speaking persons, as well as 
English speaking residents, in the public hearing process.  The City will provide bilingual 
assistance whenever it has been determined necessary to adequately allow persons to express 

http://www.lakewoodcity.org/


 

 

their views regarding the planning, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of community 
development improvement activities.  All advertisement for public hearing will note that 
arrangements for an interpreter can be made by contacting the City’s Community Development 
Department. 

E. CITIZEN SERVICES REQUESTS AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Citizens should be aware that any questions or grievances, regarding any facet of City 
operations, can be submitted to the Community Development Department located at 5050 N. 
Clark Ave., Lakewood, CA 90712.  During the development of the Consolidated Plan submission, 
written concerns or complaints regarding the Plan shall initiate a written response indicating 
assessment of the complaint and/or proposals and actions taken to address the complaints 
and/or proposals before the final submission of the Consolidated Plan to HUD.  The City shall 
ensure that reasonable attempts are made to respond to questions or complaints in a timely 
manner, usually within 15 working days after receipt of the inquiry.  If the content of the 
complaint is based on a probable misunderstanding (i.e., scope of block grant activities), the 
response communication will so state and give the complaining party the opportunity of 
alternative forms of redress. 
 
Although HUD will consider objections submitted at any time, such objections should be 

submitted within 30 days of the submission of the Consolidated Plan, Action Plan, or CAPER to 

HUD.  Any written inquiries submitted to HUD should be addressed as follows: 

US DEPT. OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT 

Los Angeles Area Office 

Community Planning and Development Division 

300 North Los Angeles Street, Suite 4045 

Los Angeles, CA 90012 

Objections submitted to HUD must meet one or more of the following criteria:   

▪ The description of the needs and objectives are plainly inconsistent with available facts 
and data.   

▪ The activities to be undertaken are plainly inappropriate to meeting the needs and 
objectives defined by jurisdiction.  

▪ The submission does not comply with specific requirements or law. 
▪ The submission proposed the undertaking of ineligible activities. 

 





 

 

RESIDENTIAL ANTI-DISPLACEMENT AND RELOCATION ASSISTANCE PLAN – CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Section 509 of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1987 amended Section 104 of 
the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 by adding a new subsection. 

The new Section 104(d) of the Act became effective October 1, 1988, and provides that a grant 
under Section 106, Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Programs may be made only if 
the grantee certifies that it is following a residential anti-displacement and relocation assistance 
plan.  The residential anti-displacement and relocation assistance plan under Section 104(d) 
must contain two components: (1) A requirement to replace all low and moderate income 
dwelling units that are demolished or converted to a use other than low and moderate income 
housing as a direct result of the use of CDBG assistance and, (2) a relocation assistance 
component. 

A certification and plan is required even if the grant will not result in demolition or in the 
conversion of a low and moderate income unit to use other than low and moderate income 
housing. 

The document serves as the residential anti-displacement and relocation assistance plan for the 
2021-2022 fiscal year.  In implementation of the relocation activities related to this plan, 
Section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended and the 
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisitions Policies Act of 1970 as amended 
will be followed.  The following details the City of Lakewood’s Plan. 

II. RESIDENTIAL ANTI DISPLACEMENT AND RELOCATION ASSISTANCE PLAN UNDER 

SECTION 104 (d) OF THE HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ACT OF 1974, AS 

AMENDED. 

A. The City of Lakewood will replace all occupied and vacant unoccupied low and 
moderate income dwelling units demolished or converted to a use other than as 
low and moderate income housing as a direct result of activities assisted with 
funds provided under the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as 
amended, as described in 24 CFR, 570.606 (b)(1). 

B. All replacement housing will be provided within three (3) years of the 
commencement of the demolition or rehabilitation relating to conversion.  
Before obligating or expending funding that will directly result in such demolition 
or conversion, the City of Lakewood will make public and submit to the HUD 
Field Office the following information in writing. 

1. A description of the proposed assisted activity; 

2. The general location on a map and approximate number of dwelling units by 
size (number of bedrooms) that will be demolished or converted to a use 



 

 

other than low and moderate income dwelling units as a result of the 
assisted activity; 

3. A time schedule for the commencement and completion of the demolition or 
conversion; 

4. The general location on a map and approximate number of dwelling units by 
size (number of bedrooms) that will be provided as replacement dwelling 
units; 

5. The source of funding and a time schedule for the provision of replacement 
dwelling units, and 

6. The basis for concluding that each replacement dwelling unit will remain a 
low and moderate income dwelling unit for at least ten (10) years from the 
date of initial occupancy. 

C. The City of Lakewood will provide relocation assistance, as described in 24 CFR 
570.606 (b)(2), to each low and moderate income household displaced by the 
demolition of housing or by the conversion of a low and moderate income 
dwelling unit to another use as a direct result to assisted activities. 

D. Consistent with the goals and objectives of activities assisted under the Act, the 
City of Lakewood will take the following steps to minimize the displacement of 
persons from their homes: 

1. Provide replacement housing as described in 24 CFR 570.606 (b)(1) and 
outlined as follows: 

One for One replacement units – all occupied and vacant low and moderate 
income dwelling units (units that could be occupied) that are demolished or 
converted to a use other than low and moderate income dwelling units as a 
direct result of CDBG activities will be replaced by the City by private 
developers with low and moderate income dwelling units. 

The replacement of low and moderate income dwelling units may include 
public housing or existing housing receiving Section 8 project-based 
assistance. 

The replacement of low and moderate income dwelling units will be provided 
within three years of the commencement of the demolition or rehabilitation 
related to the conversion and will meet the following requirements; 

a. The unit will be located within the City’s jurisdiction. 

b. The units will be sufficient in number and size to house the number of 
occupants that could have been housed in the units that are demolished 
or converted.  The number of occupants that may be housed shall be 
determined in accordance with local housing occupancy codes. 



 

 

c. The units will be provided in standard condition and may include units 
which have been raised from substandard to standard. 

III. RELOCATION ADVISORY ASSISTANCE 

A. The City will administer its relocation program, including providing relocation 
assistance and the preparation of claims for processing by the Community 
Development Department, City of Lakewood. 

B. The Relocation Program will provide maximum assistance to minimize the 
hardship of displacement to all persons displaced from their dwellings and to 
displaced businesses to assure their re-establishment with a minimum of delay. 

C. Personal and continuing contact will be maintained with those to be displaced 
until they are satisfactorily relocated, and where hardship is evident, a follow-up 
call will be made to ease the transition of the move. 

1. The following specific services will be provided; 

a. Each person or business required to move will be personally interviewed, 
and a detailed and clear explanation of benefits will be made.  The 
interview will be conducted in the language most easily understood by 
the displaced person. 

b. The U.S. Department of Housing Development informational brochures 
will be delivered to residential and commercial owners and tenants in a 
timely manner. 

c. A member of the staff will continuously make field surveys to locate 
housing resources and business vacancies for referrals.  Referrals will be 
made to standard housing comparable to the occupied housing and in 
close proximity to employment, medical, shopping, transportation and 
eating facilities.  Additionally, real estate brokers will be informed of the 
displacement, and their cooperation will be solicited in making referrals.  
Referrals to commercial sites will be made relative to commercial 
operators’ needs in location, square footage requirements, trade area, 
and other business location criteria.  Inspection of housing resources will 
be undertaken prior to referral and after the move of the displaced 
person. 

d. If transportation is needed to field check referrals, the staff member or 
consultant will provide such transportation. 

e. Assistance will be given by explaining procedures to purchase a home, 
including the purpose of and charges made through escrow. 

f. If social service agencies in the community could provide a needed 
service, referrals will be made and follow-up programs will be instituted.  
The referral services could be Social Security Administration, Department 



 

 

of Public Social Services, Veteran’s Administration, Lakewood Housing 
Authority, and other local service agencies. 

g. Where necessary, efforts will be made to trace self-relocatees. 

h. Assistance will be given in filing relocation claims, and these claims will be 
submitted to the Community Development Department, City of 
Lakewood. 

i. Delivery of benefit check will be made promptly and follow-up claims will 
be made. 

IV. RELOCATION ASSISTANCE 

Each low and moderate income household that is displaced as a direct result of CDBG assisted 
activities shall be provided with relocation assistance.  The low and moderate income 
household may elect to receive assistance described in 24 CFR Part 49 (HUD’s regulations 
implementing the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 
1970) or assistance as described under Section 104 (d) of the Housing and Community 
Development Act of 1974, as amended by Section 509 of the 1987 HCD Act provisions. 

Displaced low and moderate income households will receive relocation assistance provided to 
displaced persons required under 24 CFR 49, Subpart C (General Relocation Requirements) and 
Subpart D (Payment for Moving and Related Expenses) whether the households receive 
assistance under the CFR or Section 104 (d) of the Act.  Briefly, those benefits are as follows: 

Residential Benefits: 

1. Actual moving and related expenses, as the Agency determines to be reasonable and 
necessary, including expenses outlined in 49 CFR 24.301. 

2. Fixed payment for moving expenses as described in 49 CFR 24.302. 

Non Residential Benefits: 

1. Payment for actual reasonable moving and related expenses as described in 49 CFR 
24.303. 

2. Reestablishment expense as described in 49 CFR 24.304. 

3. Ineligible moving and related expenses as described in 49 CFR 24.304 (b) and 49 CFR 
24.305 will not be provided. 

4. Fixed payments for moving expenses as described in 49 CFR.306. 

V. COST ESTIMATE OF RELOCATION BENEFITS 

Since no relocation activity is contemplated, it is not possible to provide a cost estimate of 
relocating payment at this time.  However, should it become necessary to make relocation 
payments, these payments will be funded with CDBG funds. 



 

 

VI.    PLAN FOR DISBURSEMENTS OF RELOCATION BENEFITS 

The disbursement of relocation benefits will be made in an orderly and readily available 
manner. 

All claims for relocation payments must be submitted within 18 months after the displacement 
of the claimant.  Relocation claim forms will be prepared by the relocation staff; the forms will 
be explained in detail to the claimant.  Once the signature of the displacee has been obtained, 
the prepared forms, accompanied by a memorandum explaining the particular need, etc., of 
the claimant will be promptly delivered to the Community Development Department, City of 
Lakewood, for review, approval and preparation of warrants.  Upon verification of vacating the 
acquired property, the relocation benefits will be delivered. 

Advanced payments will be processed when it is evident that there is a hardship.  These 
payments will be delivered in a timely way to assure ease in securing relocated housing 
commitments. 

A claim must be supported by the necessary documentation which may include itemized 
receipted moving bills, income tax returns, opening/closing escrow statements, verification of 
rental data and any other information deemed appropriate and necessary to support the claim. 

Payments will be processed in All claim papers and related evidence will become permanent 
records of the Community Development Department, City of Lakewood, as part of the 
individual files maintained for each displaced person or business. 

If a business does not file a claim for any of the above benefits, it may file for In-Lieu of Moving 
and Related Expenses Payment.  No payment of this kind shall be made unless the Community 
Development Department, City of Lakewood, is satisfied that the business cannot be relocated 
without substantial loss of patronage and is not part of a commercial enterprise having at least 
one other establishment not being acquired, which is engaged in the same or similar business. 

This payment represents the average annual net income for the two years prior to 
displacement, except that the payment may not be less than $1,000 or more than $20,000 (49 
FR 24.306 {a}). 

Payments will be processed in a timely manner to minimize hardship. 

VII. LAST RESORT HOUSING 

Last resort housing is not contemplated as it has been determined comparable replacement 
housing will be available for project residents within a reasonable period prior to displacement.  
However, if it is necessary, procedures as referenced in the Uniform Act will be followed. 













 

















 











 

 

SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE AGREEMENT 

This Software As A Service Agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated April 13, 2021 (the “Effective 

Date”), and is by and between OpenCities, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“OpenCities”), and the 

City of Lakewood, California, a California municipal corporation (“Customer”). This Agreement 

includes Schedules A with SLA and Schedule B hereto, as well as OpenCities’ Acceptable Use 

Policy, and Privacy Policy (all as defined below in Article 1), and all such documents are 

incorporated herein by this reference.  

OpenCities offers website publishing, management and hosting services for local government 

websites utilizing proprietary content management system, and Customer desires that OpenCities 

provide such services to Customer, all on the terms and conditions set forth herein. Therefore, in 

consideration for the mutual promises of the parties set forth below, the adequacy of which 

consideration the parties hereby acknowledge, the parties agree as follows. 

1.  DEFINITIONS. The following capitalized terms will have the following meanings whenever 

used in this Agreement. 

1.1. “Acceptable Use Policy” (“AUP”) means, as of any date, the version of OpenCities’ 

acceptable use policy posted at http://support.OpenCities.com as of such date. 

1.2. “Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday on which banks in the State 

of California are open for business. 

1.3. “Core Module” means the individual modules that are included within the SaaS. From time 

to time, new Core Modules will be introduced to the SaaS via Version Updates which are 

included in the Fees paid by Customer.  

1.4. “Customer Data” means any and all data and information, including text, graphics, 

photographs, audio-visual elements, music, illustrations, video or other content, domain 

names, email, chat room content, bulletin board postings, or any other items or materials of 

Customer, any user or any other third party provided or permitted by Customer to be made 

available by or to reside within the SaaS or Customer’s Website. 

1.5. “Customer’s Website” means the website(s) created by or on behalf of Customer through use 

of the SaaS for Customer’s internal business purposes.  

1.6. “Customizations” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.2(f). 

1.7. “Documentation” means OpenCities' standard user documentation and any other operating, 

training and reference manuals related to the SaaS, all of which are contained in the 

OpenCities Help Center. 

1.8.  “Integrations” means optional enhancements to the SaaS involving third party products or 

services, which are offered separately by OpenCities and are available for purchase by 

Customer via the OpenCities Help Center. 

http://support.opencities.com/


2 
 

1.9. “Intellectual Property Rights” means all intellectual or industrial property, including without 

limitation any copyright, trade or service mark, patent, moral right, trade secret, logo, know 

how, rights in relation to inventions, drawings, discoveries, improvements, technical data, 

formulae, computer programs, know-how, logos, designs, circuit layouts, domain names, 

business names, software, whether or not now existing, and whether or not registered or 

unregistered rights, and rights in respect of Confidential Information. 

1.10. “Malicious Code” means code, files scripts, agents or programs intended to do harm, 

including, for example, viruses, worms, time bombs and Trojan horses. 

1.11. “OpenCities Help Center” means the Documentation and the specifications for the SaaS (the 

“Specifications”) currently posted at http://support.OpenCities.com. 

1.12.  “Privacy Policy” means, as of any date, OpenCities’ privacy policy posted at 

http://support.OpenCities.com as of such date. 

1.13.  “SaaS” means the data traffic management, website publishing and web hosting services 

utilizing OpenCities’ proprietary content management system, including any Version 

Updates and Core Modules released by OpenCities, and all related Specifications and 

Documentation. 

1.14.  “Scheduled Maintenance Window” means the date and time slot identified by OpenCities in 

a written notice given to Customer via the OpenCities Help Center no later than 5 Business 

Days prior to the proposed Scheduled Maintenance Window to enable maintenance work and 

Version Updates to be performed. The Scheduled Maintenance Window will be outside of 

Customer’s normal business hours and periods of peak demand, whenever reasonably 

possible.    

1.15.  “SLA” or “Service Level Agreement” means OpenCities’ standard service level agreement 

as in effect from time to time, the current version of which is set forth in Schedule A hereto. 

1.16. “Term” is defined in Section 12.1 below. 

1.17. “Version Updates” means updated versions of the SaaS (indicated by a higher numerical 

version number) developed by OpenCities with enhancements or additions to the 

functionality, and/or performance improvements and bug fixes. 

2.  SCOPE AND USAGE OF SAAS.  

2.1. Use of SaaS.  During the Term and upon payment of the applicable Fees set out in Schedule 

A hereto, OpenCities shall make the SaaS available to Customer in accordance with the terms of 

this Agreement solely for Customer’s internal business purposes. Customer may permit an 

unlimited number of its employees and its contractors to use the SaaS provided their use is solely 

for Customer’s internal business purposes and at all times in compliance with the terms of this 

Agreement.  Customer agrees to be responsible for any breach of this Agreement by its contractors. 

2.2. Scope of SaaS.  Upon payment of the applicable Fees and subject to the other terms and 

conditions of this Agreement, OpenCities will provide the following services to Customer during 

the Term:  

http://support.opencities.com/
http://support.opencities.com/


3 
 

(a) Website Publishing System. OpenCities will provide Customer with the website 

publishing functionality set out in the SaaS Documentation and the Specifications. 

 

(b) Web Hosting.  OpenCities will provide Customer with the data traffic management and 

web hosting services set out in Schedule A. 

 

(c) Maintenance and Support.  OpenCities will provide the maintenance and support 

services set out in Section 3 hereof. 

 

(d) Service Level Agreement.  OpenCities will use commercially reasonable efforts to 

ensure the SaaS is available in accordance with the then applicable Service Level 

Agreement. 

 

(e)  Customizations.  OpenCities may provide Customer with developer training in setting 

up additional templates, functions or web services and other additional functionality to 

customise the SaaS ("Customizations"), or Customer may request that OpenCities 

develop Customizations on Customer’s behalf. Any Customization services to be 

supplied by OpenCities will be provided pursuant to a separate statement of work 

executed by the parties.  All such Customization services will be charged on a time and 

materials basis at OpenCities then-current rates for the applicable Customization 

services.  Where Customizations have been produced by the Customer or a 3rd party, 

OpenCities is not responsible for any incompatibility between the Customizations and 

the SaaS, including those resulting from Version Updates to the SaaS. Where the 

Customizations have been produced by OpenCities, OpenCities agrees that such 

Customizations will be compatible with the then-current version of the SaaS in 

accordance with the terms set forth in the applicable statement of work. Customer 

acknowledges that the support and maintenance services set out in Article 3 will not be 

provided for any Customizations and that Customizations are not covered by the Service 

Level Agreement. If Customer desires to obtain support for any Customizations, any 

support offered by OpenCities will be charged on a time and materials basis at 

OpenCities’ then-current rates for such support. Any Customizations developed by 

OpenCities shall be the property of OpenCities.  Effective upon delivery of any such 

Customizations to Customer, OpenCities grants Customer a perpetual, nonexclusive, 

non-transferable, fully paid license to copy, modify, create derivative works of and use 

such Customizations as part of Customer’s Website. 

 

(f) Additional Services.  OpenCities may provide certain additional services from time to 

time under this Agreement as agreed by the parties in writing. 

 

(g) Use of Third Party Service Providers.  Customer acknowledges that OpenCities has, and 

in the future may, retain one or more third party service providers to supply certain 

aspects of the SaaS, including certain of the facilities, equipment, products, services and 

connectivity necessary to offer the SaaS. Customer acknowledges that OpenCities 

currently obtains web hosting services from the provider identified in, and on the terms 

and conditions referenced in, Schedule A.  

 



4 
 

2.3. Documentation: Customer may reproduce and use the Documentation solely as necessary 

to support its use of the SaaS. 

2.4.  Users of Customer’s Website. Customer may authorize an unlimited number of users to 

access and use Customer’s Website. Customer agrees that it is not authorized to, and agrees not 

to, make any representations or warranties regarding the SaaS or OpenCities to any user or third 

party, and further agrees not to otherwise create or purport to create any obligations or liabilities 

on the part of OpenCities. Customer agrees to indemnify OpenCities for its and any user’s acts and 

omissions related to Customer’s Website and/or the SaaS. OpenCities has no obligation to provide 

support or any other services, or any SLA remedies or other remedies, to such users. 

3.  MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES. 

3.1. Maintenance and Support; SLA.  Subject to the other provisions of this Article 3 and 

Customer’s payment of all applicable Fees, during the Term: 

(a)  OpenCities will provide the remedies listed in the SLA for any failure of the SaaS or the 

SaaS Documentation listed in the SLA. Such remedies are Customer’s sole remedy for 

any failure of the SaaS, and Customer recognizes and agrees that if the SLA does not list 

a remedy for a given failure, it has no remedy.  Any credits issued pursuant to the SLA 

for failure to meet the uptime guarantee specified in the SLA will apply to outstanding 

or future invoices only and are forfeited upon termination of this Agreement. OpenCities 

is not required to issue refunds or to make payments against such credits under any 

circumstances, including without limitation after termination of this Agreement. 

(b) OpenCities may revise the SLA or the features and functions of the SaaS at any time, 

provided no such revision materially reduces the features or functionality provided to 

Customer as set forth herein.  

 

(c) OpenCities will provide Customer with Version Updates. Customer acknowledges that 

Version Updates are mandatory and necessary for the proper function and security of the 

SaaS.  Customer agrees to the implementation of all Version Updates by OpenCities.  

Implementation will occur during a Scheduled Maintenance Window.  Any SaaS 

downtime or functionality issues arising during a Scheduled Maintenance Window will 

not be subject to the Service Level Agreement. 

 

(d) OpenCities grants Customer personnel unlimited access to the OpenCities Help Center 

to review the Documentation and Specifications. Customer acknowledges and agrees 

that it does not have an unlimited right to request maintenance and support services 

through the OpenCities Help Center; requests for maintenance and support must be made 

in compliance with paragraph (e) hereof. 

 

(e) OpenCities will make available to Customer an online and telephone help desk service, 

which will allow 2 designated support representatives of Customer who have received 

training in the SaaS to request maintenance and support services in accordance with the 

Service Level Agreement. Requests from other personnel will not be accepted. The 

contact details for the online and telephone help desk support services are set out in 

Schedule A. 



5 
 

 

(f)  Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs (d) and (e) above, where Customer’s 

Website is experiencing a Severity 1 problem, any Customer personnel may contact 

OpenCities via the telephone help desk to report the Severity 1 problem.    

 

3.2. Scheduled and Emergency Maintenance.   

(a)  OpenCities agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to conduct all SaaS 

maintenance within a Scheduled Maintenance Window. However, Customer 

acknowledges that an unplanned event may occur that will require the need for 

OpenCities to perform maintenance on the SaaS on an emergency basis outside of a 

Scheduled Maintenance Window.  

(b) OpenCities will use reasonable efforts to give Customer advance notice of emergency 

maintenance, but it is possible that advanced notification of emergency maintenance will 

not occur. Any SaaS downtime or functionality issues during the Scheduled Maintenance 

Window or during emergency maintenance will not be subject to the Service Level 

Agreement.   

3.3 Conditions.  OpenCities provision of the maintenance and support services set forth in this 

Article 3 is subject to the following conditions: 

  

(a) Customer must document and promptly report all errors or malfunctions of the SaaS to 

OpenCities or its assigned agents and representatives; 

  

(b) Customer must carry out procedures to rectify errors or malfunctions within a reasonable 

period after receiving instructions from OpenCities on such procedures; and 

 

(c)  Customer must provide OpenCities with reasonable access to Customer's personnel, its 

assigned agents and representatives as required by OpenCities to meet its obligations 

under this Agreement. 

 

3.4 Exclusions.  OpenCities is under no obligation to provide the maintenance and support 

services specified in this Article 3 if they are requested as a result of or related to: (a) operation of 

the SaaS with other media and hardware, SaaS or interfaces not authorized or maintained in 

accordance with this Agreement or the Documentation; (b) use of the SaaS that is not in accordance 

with the Documentation; (c) any modification, alteration or addition or attempted modification, 

alteration or addition to the SaaS (unless such modifications were developed by OpenCities or 

authorised by OpenCities in writing); (d) failure of any data service, internet service or any other 

third-party service, or failure of a telecommunications connection, hardware, software, web 

services, or third party content, software, or equipment; or (e) any non-reproducible error or defect 

reported by Customer. 

 

3.5  Abuse of Maintenance Services.  In the event Customer abuses the maintenance and support 

services offered by OpenCities (e.g. by declaring a problem Severity Level 1 when it is only 

Severity Level 2, 3 or 4, unless such distinction could not reasonably have been determined, or by 

reporting problems which are not Severity 1 during non-business hours) an "Abuse Incident" will 



6 
 

be noted, and OpenCities will inform Customer of such. 

 

4.  FEES AND PAYMENT TERMS.  

4.1 Subscription Fees.  Customer will pay OpenCities the annual subscription and other fees 

set forth in Schedule A (the “Fees”) during the Initial Term and the applicable Fees for each 

Renewal Term, which Fees are based on the resident population of Customer Except as otherwise 

expressly provided in this Agreement, all Fees are non-cancelable and non-refundable.   The Fees 

for the first year of the Initial Term are payable within 30 days of execution of this Agreement, 

and the Fees for each successive year during the Initial Term and each Renewal Term shall be 

payable net 30 days from the date of OpenCities’ invoice. 

  

4.2 Fee Adjustments.  Upon expiration of the Initial Term, Fees may be adjusted for each 

Renewal Term to take into account any increases in the Consumer Price Index for all Items as 

published by the US Bureau of Labor Statistics and any adjustments in the resident population of 

Customer’s region.   No later than ninety (90) days prior to the commencement of any Renewal 

Term, Customer agrees to provide OpenCities, upon OpenCities’ request, with the then current 

resident population within Customer’s region, and OpenCities shall revise the Fees for the ensuing 

Renewal Term if the population of the region has increased or decreased such that it falls within a 

different population band.  Customer’s initial population band is set out in Schedule A.  OpenCities 

shall notify Customer of any Fees adjustments made pursuant to this Section 4.2 at least seventy 

(70) days prior to the commencement of the applicable Renewal Term. 

 

4.3 Excess Usage.  If Customer uses any bandwidth or storage space in excess of the ‘allocated 

bandwidth and storage space’ set forth in Schedule A, OpenCities may, in its sole discretion, 

require that Customer pay additional traffic and server storage charges calculated in accordance 

with Schedule A. Customer’s and its users’ use of the SaaS and access to it is Customer’s 

responsibility. Customer is responsible for any unauthorised access to the SaaS resulting in 

bandwidth and/or storage usage exceeding the allocated limits and any charges resulting as a 

consequence. 

 

4.4 Overdue Charges.  If any invoiced amount is not received by OpenCities by the due date, 

then without limiting OpenCities’ rights or remedies, (a) those charges may accrue late interest at 

the rate of 1.5% of the outstanding balance per month, or the maximum rate permitted by law, 

whichever is lower, and/or (b) OpenCities may condition future subscription renewals on payment 

terms shorter than those specified herein.  Customer will be liable for all costs of collection of any 

undisputed, overdue amounts including, without limitation, all court costs, legal fees and other 

costs incurred by OpenCities. 

 

4.5 Taxes.   The Fees charged by OpenCities do not include any taxes, levies, duties or similar 

governmental assessments of any nature, including, value-added, sales, use or withholding taxes, 

assessable by any jurisdiction whatsoever (collectively, “Taxes”). Customer is responsible for 

paying all Taxes associated Customer’s purchase of the SaaS.  If OpenCities has the legal 

obligation to pay or collect any Taxes for which Customer is responsible under this Section 4(e), 

then Customer agrees that OpenCities will invoice Customer that amount unless Customer 

provides OpenCities with a valid tax exemption certificate authorized by the appropriate taxing 



7 
 

authority. For clarity, OpenCities is responsible for taxes assessable against it based on its income, 

property and employees. 

 

4.6 Future Functionality.  Customer agrees that its purchase is not contingent on the delivery 

of any future functionality or features, or dependent on any oral or written public comments made 

by OpenCities regarding future functionality or features. 

  



8 
 

 

5.  CUSTOMER DATA & SECURITY.  

5.1. Customer Rights to Data. Customer retains all right, title and interest (including any 

Intellectual Property Rights) in and to all data and content supplied by or on behalf of Customer 

in connection with the SaaS and Customer’s Website, including data uploaded by users thereof 

(collectively, the “Customer Data”).  Customer hereby grants OpenCities a limited, non-exclusive, 

royalty-free, non-transferable license to host, reproduce, transmit, cache, store, exhibit, publish, 

display, distribute, perform, and otherwise use the Customer Data solely as necessary to provide 

the SaaS for Customer.  

 

5.2. Responsibility for Customer Data.   Customer is solely responsible for Customer Data, 

including the accuracy, quality, appropriateness and legality of all Customer Data and the means 

by which the Customer Data is acquired, and OpenCities shall have no responsibility or liability 

therefor.  Customer represents and warrants to OpenCities that: 

 

(a) Customer owns or has the right to use Customer Data, and has the rights necessary to 

grant OpenCities the licence set forth in Section 5.1. 

 

(b) All Customer Data will be "server ready" and otherwise remain fully compatible with 

OpenCities’ SaaS (including all software and operating systems); and 

 

(c) Customer has obtained all necessary rights, releases and consents to allow the Customer 

Data to be collected, used and disclosed in the manner contemplated by this Agreement 

and to grant OpenCities the rights herein. 

 

5.3. OpenCities’ Use of Customer Data. Unless it receives Customer’s prior written consent, 

OpenCities: (a) will not access, process, or otherwise use Customer Data other than as necessary 

to facilitate the SaaS; and (b) will not intentionally grant any third party access to Customer Data, 

except subcontractors that are subject to a reasonable nondisclosure agreement. Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, OpenCities may disclose Customer Data, including, without limitation, user profile 

information (i.e. name, e-mail address, etc.), IP addressing and traffic information, and usage 

history, as required by applicable law or by proper legal or governmental authority. OpenCities 

will give Customer prompt notice of any such legal or governmental demand and reasonably 

cooperate with Customer in any effort to seek a protective order or otherwise to contest such 

required disclosure, at Customer’s expense. 

 

5.4. Protection of Customer Data.  OpenCities will use commercially reasonable, industry 

standard administrative, physical and technical safeguards for the protection of the security, 

confidentiality and integrity of the Customer Data, including implementation of measures designed 

to prevent unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure and loss of the Customer Data.  

OpenCities will archive Customer Data on a regular basis during the Term by performing 6 daily 

and 8 weekly backups for the purposes of disaster recovery. In the event of equipment failure or 

data corruption, OpenCities will restore from the most recent uncorrupted archive. In the event of 

corruption of all of OpenCities archives, or in the event that an old archive is used to restore data, 

Customer will have the responsibility of uploading new Customer Data to Customer’s Website. 



9 
 

OpenCities will not be liable for incomplete, out-of-date, corrupt or otherwise deficient Customer 

Data recovered from OpenCities backups.  

 

5.5. No Obligation to Monitor; Right to Remove.  OpenCities may, but has no obligation to, 

monitor, review or edit Customer Data. In all cases, OpenCities reserves the right to remove, delete 

or disable access to any Customer Data that OpenCities determines, in the exercise of its sole 

discretion, violates this Agreement (including the Acceptable Use Policy) or is illegal, damaging, 

problematic, objectionable or otherwise inappropriate. OpenCities may take such action without 

prior notification of Customer. 

 

5.6. Privacy Policy. The Privacy Policy applies only to the SaaS and does not apply to any third 

party website or service linked to the SaaS or recommended or referred to through the SaaS or by 

OpenCities staff. 

 

5.7. Risk of Exposure. Customer recognizes and agrees that hosting data online involves risks 

of unauthorized disclosure or exposure and that, in accessing and using the SaaS, Customer 

assumes such risks. OpenCities offers no representation, warranty, or guarantee that Customer 

Data will not be exposed or disclosed through errors or the actions of third parties. 

 

5.8. Aggregate & Anonymized Data. Notwithstanding the provisions above of this Article 5, 

OpenCities may use, reproduce, sell, publicize, or otherwise exploit Aggregate Data in any way, 

in its sole discretion. (“Aggregate Data” refers to Customer Data with the following removed: 

personally identifiable information and the names and addresses of Customer and any of its users.) 

 

6.  CUSTOMER’S OBLIGATIONS & RESTRICTIONS. 

6.1 Acceptable Use. Customer will comply with OpenCities’ AUP as in effect from time to 

time.   Customer will not: (a) sell, resell, license, sublicense, distribute, make available, rent or 

lease the SaaS or use the SaaS for service bureau or time-sharing purposes or in any other way 

allow third parties to exploit or access the SaaS, except users accessing Customer’s Website as 

specifically authorized by this Agreement; (b) use the SaaS to store or transmit infringing, libelous, 

or otherwise unlawful or tortious material, or to store or transmit material in violation of third-

party privacy rights; (c) use the SaaS to store or transmit Malicious Code; (d) share non-public 

SaaS features or content with any third party; (e) frame or mirror any part of the SaaS other than 

framing on Customer’s own intranets or otherwise for Customer’s internal business purposes; (f) 

reverse engineer any portion of the SaaS, or (g) access the SaaS in order to build a competitive 

product or service, to build a product using similar ideas, features, functions or graphics of the 

SaaS, or to copy any ideas, parts, features, functions or graphics of the SaaS.  In the event that it 

suspects any breach of the requirements of this Section 6.1, including without limitation by 

Customer’s users, OpenCities may suspend Customer’s access to the SaaS without advance notice, 

in addition to such other remedies as OpenCities may have. Neither this Agreement nor the AUP 

requires that OpenCities take any action against Customer or any user or other third party for 

violating the AUP, this Section 6.1, or this Agreement, but OpenCities is free to take any such 

action it sees fit.  Any breach of the AUP or any of the provisions of this Article 6 will entitle 

OpenCities to elect to terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to Customer. 

 



10 
 

6.2 Unauthorized Access; Security. Customer will take reasonable steps to prevent 

unauthorized access to the SaaS and the network, including without limitation by protecting its 

passwords and other log-in information. Customer will notify OpenCities immediately of any 

known or suspected unauthorized access to or use of the SaaS or breach of its security and will use 

best efforts to stop said breach. Customer shall not: 

(a) interfere with or disrupt the integrity or performance of the SaaS or attempt to gain 

unauthorized access to the SaaS, or OpenCities’ or its suppliers’ related systems and 

networks; 

  

(b) commit, cause or allow any breach (or do anything which might put us in breach) of any 

applicable law, regulation, government direction or industry standard or code; 

 

(c) attempt to or actually access the SaaS by any means other than through the portals or 

interfaces provided by OpenCities; 

 

(d) attempt to or actually override any security component included in or underlying the 

SaaS; or 

 

(e) attempt or engage in any action that directly or indirectly interferes with the proper 

working of or place an unreasonable load on OpenCities' infrastructure. 

 

6.3 Compliance with Laws. In its use of the SaaS, Customer will comply with all applicable 

laws, including without limitation laws governing the protection of personally identifiable 

information and other laws applicable to the protection of Customer Data. 

6.4 Responsibility for Users; SaaS Access. Customer is responsible and liable for: (a) its own 

and its users use of the SaaS, including without limitation for any unauthorized user conduct and 

any user conduct that would violate the AUP or the requirements of this Agreement applicable to 

Customer; and (b) any use of the SaaS through Customer’s account, whether authorized or 

unauthorized.  Customer agrees to indemnify OpenCities against any loss or damage (except where 

and to the extent that such loss or damage is consequential in nature) that OpenCities suffers as a 

result of any unauthorized access to OpenCities’ SaaS or network or those of OpenCities’ 

suppliers. 

6.5 Required Third Party Services.   

(a) Customer will establish and maintain, at its own expense, all telecommunications 

equipment and access lines necessary to gain access to the SaaS. 

 

(b)  In order for OpenCities to provide some of the services under this Agreement, 

Customer may at times, be required to give OpenCities access to or provide login 

information and password information for accounts or services Customer may have 

with third party providers. When Customer provides OpenCities with this information 

or provides OpenCities with access to these third party accounts, Customer warrants 

that it has all the necessary contractual and legal rights to give OpenCities such access, 

login information and passwords. 



11 
 

 

(c)  Customer acknowledges that OpenCities will not have any responsibility or liability 

with regard to any third party services used by the Customer on or through the 

OpenCities formed web content, such as payment and e-commerce services, and any 

use of such third party services will be at Customer’s own risk. Customer further 

acknowledges that the technical ability to link to such services (such as the possibility 

of a 'PayPal' button), is provided only as part of the SaaS but will not be deemed to 

create any liability or responsibility on behalf of OpenCities. 

 

(d)  Where any third party SaaS integration is found to cause performance, stability or 

security issues, OpenCities reserves the right to disable or remove that third party SaaS 

in order to restore our SaaS to acceptable levels. 

 

6.6 Customer Representative. Customer will appoint a designated representative who will be 

authorized to act as the primary point of contact for Customer in dealing with OpenCities with 

respect to each party's obligations under this Agreement and on a timely basis. 

 

7   OPENCITIES IP & FEEDBACK.  

7.1 IP Rights in the SaaS. OpenCities retains all right, title, and interest in and to the SaaS, 

including without limitation all software used to provide the SaaS and all graphics, user interfaces, 

logos, and trademarks reproduced through the SaaS. This Agreement does not grant Customer any 

intellectual property license or rights in or to the SaaS or any of its components or any 

Documentation. Customer recognizes that the SaaS and its components and the Documentation 

are protected by copyright and other laws. 

7.2 Feedback. OpenCities has not agreed to and does not agree to treat as confidential any 

Feedback (as defined below) that Customer or other users provide to OpenCities, and nothing in 

this Agreement or in the parties’ dealings arising out of or related to this Agreement will restrict 

OpenCities’s right to use, profit from, disclose, publish, keep secret, or otherwise exploit 

Feedback, without compensating or crediting Customer or the user in question. Customer hereby 

grants OpenCities a perpetual, irrevocable right and license to exploit Feedback in any and every 

way. (“Feedback” refers to any suggestion or idea for improving or otherwise modifying any of 

OpenCities’s products or services.) 

8   CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.  

8.1 “Confidential Information” refers to the following items: (a) any document either party 

marks “Confidential”; (b) any information either party orally designates as “Confidential” at the 

time of disclosure, provided the disclosing party confirms such designation in writing within ten 

(10) Business Days; (c)any OpenCities software and all Documentation and other information in 

the OpenCities Help Center, whether or not marked or designated confidential; and (d) any other 

nonpublic, sensitive information the receiving party should reasonably consider a trade secret or 

otherwise confidential. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential Information does not include 

information that: (i) is in the receiving party’s possession at the time of disclosure; (ii) is 

independently developed by the receiving party without use of or reference to Confidential 

Information; (iii) becomes known publicly, before or after disclosure, other than as a result of the 



12 
 

receiving party’s improper action or inaction; or (iv) is approved for release in writing by the 

disclosing party. 

8.2 Nondisclosure. Neither OpenCities nor Customer will use Confidential Information for any 

purpose other than in performance of this Agreement (the “Purpose”). Each of OpenCities and 

Customer agrees that it: (a) will not disclose Confidential Information to any of its employees or 

contractors unless such persons need access in order to facilitate the Purpose and, in the case of a 

contractor, such contractor executes a nondisclosure agreement with the appropriate party with 

terms no less restrictive than those of this Article 8; and (b) will not disclose Confidential 

Information to any other third party without the disclosing party’s prior written consent. Without 

limiting the generality of the foregoing, each party will protect Confidential Information with the 

same degree of care it uses to protect its own confidential information of similar nature and 

importance, but with no less than reasonable care. Each party agrees that it will promptly notify 

the other party of any misuse or misappropriation of the other party’s Confidential Information 

that comes to its attention. Notwithstanding the foregoing, each party may disclose Confidential 

Information as required by applicable law or by proper legal or governmental authority, provided 

such party gives the other party prompt notice of any such legal or governmental demand and 

reasonably cooperates with the other party in any effort to seek a protective order or otherwise to 

contest such required disclosure, at the other party’s expense. 

8.3 Injunction. The parties agree that breach of this Article 8 would cause the disclosing party 

irreparable injury, for which monetary damages would not provide adequate compensation, and 

that in addition to any other remedy, and that the disclosing party will be entitled to injunctive 

relief against such breach or threatened breach, without proving actual damage or posting a bond 

or other security. 

8.4 Termination & Return. With respect to each item of Confidential Information, the 

obligations of Section 8.1 above will terminate five (5) years after the date of disclosure; provided 

that such obligations related to Confidential Information of a party constituting trade secrets will 

continue so long as such information remains subject to trade secret protection pursuant to 

applicable law. Upon termination of this Agreement, each party will return all copies of the other 

party’s Confidential Information to the other party or certify, in writing, the destruction thereof. 

8.5 Retention of Rights. This Agreement does not transfer ownership of Confidential 

Information or grant a license thereto. Each party will retain all right, title, and interest in and to 

all of its Confidential Information. 

8.6 Exception & Immunity. Pursuant to the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016, 18 USC Section 

1833(b) (the “DTSA”), each party is on notice and acknowledges that, notwithstanding the 

foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement: 

(a) An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State 

trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that- (A) is made- (i) in confidence 

to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an 

attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected 

violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or 

other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. 

 



13 
 

(b) An individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a 

suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual 

and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual- (A) files 

any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (B) does not disclose the trade 

secret, except pursuant to court order. 

 

9  REPRESENTATIONS & WARRANTIES.  

9.1 Mutual Representations and Warranties.   Each party represents and warrants to the other 

party that it has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, the execution, 

delivery and performance of this Agreement by such party has been duly authorized, and this 

Agreement, when executed and delivered, will constitute the binding obligation of such party, 

enforceable against such party in accordance with its terms and will not conflict with any other 

agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound. 

 

9.2 Customer Representations and Warranties.  Customer represents and warrants to 

OpenCities that:  

 

(a) the Customer Data and its use will not violate, misappropriate or infringe any 

Intellectual Property Rights or any other personal, privacy or moral right arising 

under the laws of any jurisdiction, nor will same constitute a libel or defamation of 

any person or entity; 

 

(b)  the Customer Data will not contain any harmful components, including, but not 

limited to, viruses, trap doors, hidden sequences, hot keys, or time bombs; and 

 

(c) Customer will comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations (including, 

but not limited to, export control, decency, privacy and intellectual property laws). 

 

9.3 Exclusions .  OpenCities has no responsibility for any products or services not provided by 

OpenCities, its agents and subcontractors.  

  

9.3 Warranty Disclaimers. Except to the extent set forth in the SLA and in Section 9.1 above, 

THE SAAS IS BEING PROVIDED “AS IS” AND AS AVAILABLE, WITHOUT 

REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, 

INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF 

MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ANY WARRANTY 

OF NONINFRIGEMENT, AND ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY ARISING FROM STATUTE, 

COURSE OF DEALING, COURSE OF PERFORMANCE, OR USAGE OF TRADE, AND 

OPENCITIES DISCLAIMS SUCH WARRANTIES TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT 

PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW. WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF THE 

FOREGOING: (a) OPENCITIES DOES NOT REPRESENT OR WARRANT THAT THE 

SYSTEM WILL PERFORM WITHOUT INTERRUPTION OR ERROR OR IN A TIMELY 

FASHION; AND (b) OPENCITIES DOES NOT REPRESENT OR WARRANT THAT THE 

SYSTEM IS SECURE FROM HACKING OR OTHER UNAUTHORIZED INTRUSION OR 

THAT CUSTOMER DATA WILL REMAIN PRIVATE OR SECURE.  OPENCITIES 



14 
 

DISCLAIMS ALL LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS FOR ANY 

HARM OR DAMAGES CAUSED BY ANY THIRD-PARTY HOSTING PROVIDERS. 

10  INDEMNIFICATION.  

10.1 Indemnification of Customer. Subject to the other provisions of this Section 10.1, 

OpenCities will defend Customer and Customer’s Associates (as defined below in Section 10.3) 

against any third party claim, suit, or proceeding alleging that the SaaS or the permitted use thereof 

infringes any U.S. trademark, patent, copyright, or trade secret right of a third party (an 

(collectively, “Customer Indemnified Claims”) and will indemnify Customer and Customer’s 

Associates from any damages, attorney’s fees and costs finally awarded against Customer and 

Customer’s Associates as a result of, of for amounts paid by Customer and Customer’s Associates 

in a settlement approved by OpenCities in writing of, a Customer Indemnified Claim.    

 

(a) If in OpenCities reasonable judgment any Customer Indemnified Claim, or threat of 

any such Claim, materially interferes with Customer’s use of the SaaS, OpenCities will, 

after consultation with Customer, at OpenCities’ option and in its sole discretion, either 

(i) substitute functionally equivalent non-infringing  SaaS or SaaS Documentation; (ii) 

modify the SaaS to make it non-infringing, (iii) obtain for the Council at OpenCities 

expense the right to continue using the infringing SaaS; or, (iv) if iOpenCities’ 

determines that it cannot achieve any of the foregoing on a reasonable commercial 

basis, it may, by written notice, require Customer to cease using the SaaS, in which 

case OpenCities shall refund Customer a pro-rata portion of the Fees (as set out in 

Schedule A) for the SaaS for such period of time for which Customer was unable to 

use the SaaS.  

 

(b) OpenCities’ obligations set forth in this Section 10.1 do not apply to the extent that an 

Indemnified Claim arises out of: (a) Customer’s breach of this Agreement; (b) revisions 

or modifications to the SaaS or any components thereof made by a party other than 

OpenCities if such infringement would not have occurred but for such revisions or 

modifciations; (c) Customer’s failure to incorporate or use any Version Updates, or any 

other updates or upgrades that would have avoided the alleged infringement, provided 

OpenCities offered such other updates or upgrades were provided to Customer without 

charge; (d) inclusion of the Customer Data; (e)  the use of the SaaS other than for its 

intended purposes or contrary to OpenCities’ Specifications; or (f) combination, 

operation or use of the SaaS with equipment, programs, hardware or software not 

provided by OpenCities if in OpenCities reasonable judgment such infringement is 

caused thereby.   

 

(c) The provisions of this Section 10.1 state OpenCities entire liability and Customer’s sole 

and exclusive remedy in the event of any Customer Indemnified Infringement Claims. 

 

10.2 Indemnification of OpenCities. Customer will indemnify and defend OpenCities and 

OpenCities’ Associates (as defined below in Section 10.3) against any and all claims, liabilities, 

losses, damages, costs and expenses (including attorneys fees and costs) (a) arising out of or related 

to Customer's or its users’ alleged or actual use or misuse of, or failure to use the SaaS, including 

without limitation: (b) claims by Customer’s users or by Customer’s employees or agents; (c) 



15 
 

claims related to unauthorized disclosure or exposure of personally identifiable information or 

other private Confidential Information, including Customer Data; (d) claims related to 

infringement or violation of a copyright, trademark, trade secret, or privacy or confidentiality right 

by any Customer Data; and (e) claims that use of the SaaS harasses, defames, or defrauds a third 

party or violates the CAN-Spam Act of 2003 or any other law or restriction on electronic 

advertising (collectively, “OpenCities Indemnified Claims,”. 

 

10.3 Litigation & Additional Terms. The obligations of the indemnifying party (“Indemnitor”) 

pursuant to Section 10.1or 0 above will be excused to the extent that the indemnified parties (the 

“Indemnified Parties”) or any Indemnified Party’s Associates fails to provide prompt written 

notice to the Indemnitor of the applicable Indemnified Claim or to reasonably cooperate with the 

Indemnitor if such failure or lack or cooperation materially prejudices the defense. Indemnitor will 

control the defense of any Indemnified Claim, including appeals, negotiations, and any settlement 

or compromise thereof; provided that the Indemnified Party will have the right, not to be exercised 

unreasonably, to reject any settlement or compromise that requires that it admit wrongdoing or 

liability or subjects it to any ongoing affirmative obligations. (A party’s “Associates” are its 

officers, directors, shareholders, parents, subsidiaries, agents, successors, and assigns.) 

11   LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. 

11.1 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  THE TOTAL LIABILITY OF OPENCITIES’ AND ITS 

AFFILIATES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT WILL NOT 

EXCEED THE ACTUAL FEES RECEIVED BY OPENCITIES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. 

11.2 Exclusion of Consequential Damages. IN NO EVENT WILL OPENCITIES OR ITS 

AFFILIATES BE LIABLE TO CUSTOMER FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, INDIRECT, 

SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, INCLUDING ANY DAMAGES FOR 

LOSS OF REVENUES OR GOODWILL, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, LOSS OR 

INACCURACY OF DATA, COST OF PROCUREMENT OF SUBSTITUTE GOODS, 

SERVICES OR TECHNOLOGY, OR LOST PROFITS, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO 

THIS AGREEMENT. 

11.3 Clarifications & Disclaimers. THE LIABILITIES LIMITED BY THIS ARTICLE 11 

APPLY (a) REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, 

STRICT PRODUCT LIABILITY, OR OTHERWISE, (b) EVEN IF OPENCITIES IS ADVISED 

IN ADVANCE OF THE POSSIBILITY OF THE DAMAGES IN QUESTION AND EVEN IF 

SUCH DAMAGES WERE FORESEEABLE; AND (c) EVEN IF CUSTOMER’S REMEDIES 

FAIL OF THEIR ESSENTIAL PURPOSE. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, THE 

LIABILITIES LIMITED BY THIS ARTICLE 11 SHALL NOT INCLUDE LIABILITY (i) 

UNDER THE INDEMNITY PROVIDED IN SECTION 10.1, (ii) FOR DEATH OR PERSONAL 

INJURY RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE, (iii) FOR DAMAGE TO TANGIBLE 

PERSONAL PROPERTY, OR (iv) FOR FRAUD OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT.  If applicable 

law limits the application of the provisions of this Article 11, OpenCities’ liability will be limited 

to the maximum extent permissible. For the avoidance of doubt, OpenCities’ liability limits and 

other rights set forth in this Article 11 apply likewise to OpenCities’ affiliates, licensors, suppliers, 

advertisers, agents, sponsors, directors, officers, employees, consultants, and other representatives. 

12   TERM & TERMINATION. 



16 
 

12.1 Term. The initial term of this Agreement (the “Initial Term”) will commence on the 

Effective Date and continue for the period set forth in Schedule A. Thereafter, the Agreement will 

automatically renew for successive one-year periods (each such period, a “Renewal Term”), unless 

either party notifies the other party in writing of its decision not to renew the Agreement at least 

60 or more days before the applicable renewal date.  The Initial Term and all Renewal Terms are 

herein referred to as the “Term”. 

12.2 Termination for Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement for the other’s material 

breach by written notice, effective in 30 days unless the other party first cures such breach, or 

immediately upon written notice if the other party becomes subject to any insolvency, bankruptcy 

or similar proceeding, whether voluntary or involuntary. Without limiting OpenCities’ other rights 

and remedies, OpenCities may suspend or terminate any user’s access to the SaaS at any time, 

without advanced notice, if OpenCities reasonably concludes such user has conducted itself in a 

way that is not consistent with the requirements of the AUP or the other requirements of this 

Agreement or in a way that subjects OpenCities to potential liability. 

12.3 Effects of Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, Customer will cease all use 

of the SaaS and delete, destroy, or return all copies of the Documentation in its possession or 

control, and Customer will have the right to access the SaaS for 30 days following termination of 

this Agreement to download Customer Data.   If requested by Customer in writing, at the 

Customer's expense on a time-and-materials basis, OpenCities will provide Customer an export of 

the Customer Data in an industry standard format.  Upon the expiration of this thirty-day period 

following termination of this Agreement, all Customer Data in the SaaS will no longer be available 

on OpenCities SaaS, as OpenCities will delete all such Customer Data (including all data supplied 

by third parties) from its SaaS, and will destroy all such Data, unless otherwise agreed by the 

parties in writing. 

 

12.4 The following provisions will survive termination or expiration of this Agreement: (a) any 

obligation of Customer to pay Fees incurred before termination; (b) Sections 2.4 and 6.4, and 

Articles 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12; and (c) any other provision of this Agreement that must survive to 

fulfill its essential purpose. 

 

13 MISCELLANEOUS. 

13.1 Independent Contractors. The parties are independent contractors and will so represent 

themselves in all regards. Neither party is the agent of the other, and neither may make 

commitments on the other’s behalf. The parties agree that no OpenCities employee or contractor 

is or will be considered an employee of Customer. 

13.2 Notices. OpenCities may send notices pursuant to this Agreement to Customer’s email 

address provided by Customer, and such notices will be deemed received 24 hours after they are 

sent. Customer may send notices pursuant to this Agreement to the person identified in Schedule 

A at the email address provided for such person, and such notices will be deemed received 72 

hours after they are sent. 

13.3 Force Majeure. No delay, failure, or default, other than a failure to pay fees when due, will 

constitute a breach of this Agreement to the extent caused by acts of war, terrorism, hurricanes, 

earthquakes, other acts of God or of nature, strikes or other labor disputes, riots or other acts of 



17 
 

civil disorder, embargoes, or other causes beyond the performing party’s reasonable control. 

13.4 Assignment & Successors. Customer may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights or 

obligations hereunder without OpenCities’ express written consent. Except to the extent forbidden 

in this Section 13.4, this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties’ 

respective successors and assigns. 

13.5 Severability. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the parties hereby waive any 

provision of law that would render any clause of this Agreement invalid or otherwise 

unenforceable in any respect. In the event that a provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid 

or otherwise unenforceable, such provision will be interpreted to fulfill its intended purpose to the 

maximum extent permitted by applicable law, and the remaining provisions of this Agreement will 

continue in full force and effect. 

13.6 No Waiver. Neither party will be deemed to have waived any of its rights under this 

Agreement by lapse of time or by any statement or representation other than by an authorized 

representative in an explicit written waiver. No waiver of a breach of this Agreement will constitute 

a waiver of any other breach of this Agreement. 

13.7 Choice of Law. This Agreement will be governed solely by the internal laws of the State 

of California, including without limitation applicable federal law, without reference to: (a) any 

conflicts of law principle that would apply the substantive laws of another jurisdiction to the 

parties’ rights or duties; (b) the 1980 United Nations Convention on Contracts for the International 

Sale of Goods; or (c) other international laws. The parties consent to the personal and exclusive 

jurisdiction of the federal and state courts of California. This Section 13.7 governs all claims 

arising out of or related to this Agreement, including without limitation tort claims. 

13.8 Dispute Resolution. If at any time a dispute arises out of or in connection with this 

Agreement, the parties will have their respective designated representatives meet in good faith 

with a view to resolving the dispute within a period of 15 Business Days from the issue of a written 

notice of dispute by one party to the other party.  Should the parties not be able to resolve the 

dispute within the 15 Business Days, then both parties will refer the matter to their own appropriate 

level of senior executive management respectively for resolution. If the relevant senior executive 

management are unable to resolve the dispute within a further 10 Business Days, then the parties 

agree that the dispute must then be referred to mediation. The parties will agree on a suitable person 

to act as mediator having industry knowledge and expertise to facilitate resolution. Failing 

agreement on such appointment, either party may apply to JAMS to appoint a mediator. The 

dispute for mediation must be heard within 20 Business Days of a mediator being appointed. 

Nothing in this clause is intended to preclude a party from seeking equitable or injunctive relief.   

Neither party shall have the right to initiate litigation until 30 Business Days after the second 

mediation conference held by the parties, unless the other party has materially breached its 

obligation to mediate.   

13.9 Conflicts. In the event of any conflict among the attachments to this Agreement, the 

documents incorporated herein be reference and the main body of this Agreement, the following 

order of precedence will govern, with lower numbers governing over higher ones: (1) any 

OpenCities policy posted online, including without limitation the AUP or Privacy Policy, (2) the 

main body of this Agreement; and and (3) any other attachment or document.    



18 
 

13.10 Construction. The parties agree that the terms of this Agreement result from negotiations 

between them. This Agreement will not be construed in favor of or against either party by reason 

of authorship. 

13.11 Technology Export. Customer will not: (a) permit any third party to access or use the SaaS 

in violation of any U.S. law or regulation; or (b) export any software provided by OpenCities or 

otherwise remove it from the United States except in compliance with all applicable U.S. laws and 

regulations. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Customer will not permit any third 

party to access or use the SaaS in, or export such software to, a country subject to a United States 

embargo (as of the Effective Date, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Sudan, and Syria). 

13.12 Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement of the parties and 

supersedes all prior or contemporaneous writings, negotiations, and discussions with respect to its 

subject matter. Neither party has relied upon any such prior or contemporaneous communications. 

13.13 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts. 

Each counterpart will be an original, but all such counterparts will constitute a single instrument. 

13.14 Amendment.  This Agreement may not be amended except through a written agreement 

signed by authorized representatives of each party. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of 

this Section 13.14, OpenCities may revise the Privacy Policy, AUP and SLA at any time in 

accordance with this Agreement by providing written notice to Customer or such revisions and 

posting a new version of the applicable document on its website and/or providing a copy of the 

applicable document to Customer, and such new version will become effective on the later of (i) 

the date it is posted or provided or 45 days from the date notice is give to Customer. 

13.15 Marketing.    Customer agrees to permit OpenCities to make reasonable reference to the 

Customer's status as a user of the SaaS, including captioned quotations in product literature or 

advertisements, websites, articles, press releases, marketing literature, presentations and the like, 

and occasional use as a reference for potential new users. 

 

[Signature Page Follows] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



19 
 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

 

______________________________ 

CUSTOMER 

 

 

______________________________ 

OPENCITIES 

 

  

By: _________________________________ 

 (signature) 

By: _________________________________ 

 (signature) 

Name: 

_________________________________ 

 (print) 

Name: 

_________________________________ 

 (print) 

 

Title: _______Mayor____________________ 

 

Title: _________________________________ 

 

Date: _________________________________ 

 

Date: _________________________________ 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By:  __________________ 

 City Clerk 

 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

By:  ___________________ 

 City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



20 
 

Schedule A 
OpenCities SaaS Subscription Terms 

 

Annual Subscription Fee 

OpenCities eliminates the risk of a traditional web redesign project. Delivered as a fixed bid project, you 

will not have to worry about cost overruns. 

Delivered as a managed cloud solution, the annual subscription fee includes: 

 Enterprise grade Hosting, Security, Bandwidth (to limit) and Storage using Microsoft Azure Gov 

Data Center with 99.9% Services Level Agreement (SLA); DDOS mitigation 

 Maintenance, upgrades, and new functionality (continuous releases) 

 Accessibility commitment to global standard (WCAG 2.1 AA) 

 Unlimited 24/7 telephone helpdesk for Priority level 1 severity issues 

 Unlimited online helpdesk for all other support and issues per SLA 

 Twice annual “check-up” with OpenCities customer success team to explore site improvements 

focused on enhancing your usability 

 Access to Theme Builder to continually evolve your site design at no additional cost 

Website Subscription (Unlimited Users) $12,500 per year 

OpenForms Enterprise 

(30 Users & 100 Forms for OpenForms) 

$3,500 per year 

Employee Only Sub-site (Intranet) $3,000 per year 

Azure AD SSO $500 per year 



21 
 

Implementation Packages  

(one-time fee for Set Up Services) 

One Time Fees 

One-time OpenCities setup fees are based on the level of assistance your City needs for its digital 

transformation. OpenCities includes in this cost the following services performed by our team:  

• Virtual meetings for project initiation and workshopping 

• Production of visual design for new City website 

• Comprehensive site administrator and content publisher training  

• Delivery of project subject to the Scope included in this proposal 

• Consultation and coaching on governance, content creation and content migration 

NOTE: No travel included. Project delivered virtually. 

Included: OpenCities Services Package - Configuration, project 

management, and support on best practices during project set up + launch, 

includes set up of main site and employee only sub-site (intranet). 

$19,500 

Included: OpenCities Training Package – Training sessions for up to 25 

staff each (content publishers, site admin, OpenForms) 

$2,500 

Included: Design Package – This package includes two design options 

with up to three rounds of iteration and internal page design. This fee 

assumes that the same theme for the city site be applied to the employee 

only sub-site (intranet). If a different theme is required, an additional fee 

may be added.  

$5,000 

Included: Content Migration – estimated price based on up to 300 pages* 

migrated plus up to 2,000 documents/images migrated (following 

proposed AIM process). Per page $5 and $1/image & document after above 

scope. 

$5,500 

(See incentive) 

TOTAL ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION $19,500 per year 

Optional: Imperva Security Upgrade  

(WAF, BOT, DDOS, CDN) 

$1,000 per year 

 

TO BE DETERMINED 

POST CONTRACTING 



22 
 

NOTE – If the City selects OpenCities and contracts prior to May 30, 

2021 – OpenCities will waive the cost of content migration 

Included: Writing for The Web Workshop – no more than 25 people $900 

TOTAL ONE TIME SET UP FEES  $33,400 (prior to 

incentives) 

-Incentives of 

$5,500 

TOTAL AFTER 

INCENTIVES: 

$27,900 

 

Payment Milestones 

Due at signing: All SaaS -- $19,500 (year 1) 

Due upon completion of design and content migration – $9,300 

Due upon delivery of training – $9,300 

Due upon launch of the site -- $9,300 

Premium Modules Contracted 

OpenCities Intranet 

AzureAD Connector for SSO 

OpenForms Enterprise 30 users / 100 forms 

 

 

 

 

 



23 
 

Website Hosting 

 

Hosting provided by  Microsoft Azure Gov  

Allocated monthly bandwidth 200GB 

Allocated server storage 40GB 

Additional traffic charges $.20 per GB 

Additional server storage charges $1.00 per GB 

 

Term of agreement 

 

Initial term of agreement 5 years 

Subscription start date April 13, 2021 

 

  



24 
 

Service Level Agreement 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Agreement, OpenCities provides a guarantee of 99.9% uptime 

availability, calculated monthly. In a typical 30 day/730 hour month, this equates to no more than 1 

hour of downtime per month (not inclusive of Scheduled and emergency Maintenance).  

For confirmed downtime during any month during the Term, Open Cities will credit Customer 1% of 

Customer’s pro-rata monthly Base Subscription Fee for every hour of Customer’s public facing website 

downtime over and above the 99.9% uptime guarantee, up to a maximum of 100% of the pro rata 

monthly Base Subscription Fee for that month. 

Issue Severity Level and 

Measure/Guide 

Resolution Process and 

Contact Information 

Resolution Target 

Priority 1 – Downtime (Your 

public facing website or 

critical intranet is 

experiencing Downtime) 

 Reportable 24 x 7 via  
Telephone – (877-466-

7756, Extension 3)  

Acknowledgement and 

assignment of the problem 

for resolution within an hour. 

Within 4 hours. 

Priority 2 – Urgent (Important 

publishing functionality fails 

to work as intended, and 

there is no work-around 

available - you cannot publish 

content to the site). 

 Reportable 24 x 7 via 
Online helpdesk, or 

Telephone during business 

hours (7x6 PT). (877-466-

7756) 

Acknowledgement and 

assignment of the problem 

for resolution within one 

business day. 

Provide a workaround to the 

problem or release a Version 

Update to fix the problem by 

close of next business day. 

Priority 3 – High (Important 

publishing functionality fails 

to work as intended, but 

workarounds are available) 

 Reportable 24 x 7 via 
Online helpdesk.  

Acknowledgement and 

assignment of the problem 

for resolution within one 

business day. 

Scheduled or next Version 

Update. 

Priority 4 – Normal 

(Functionality is not working 

as intended) 

 Reportable 24 x 7 via 
Online helpdesk.  

 Acknowledgement and 
assignment of the 

Within specified Version 

Update. 



25 
 

problem for resolution 
within 3 business days 

 

Notices to OpenCities: 
Address: 1314 22nd Avenue, #697, San Francisco 94122 

Attention: Cynthia Francis 

Email:   cynthia@opencities.com  

Notices to Customer: 

Address: 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood CA 90712 

Attention: Paolo Beltran 

Email:  pbeltran@lakewoodcity.org 
  



26 
 

Schedule B  

Implementation Plan to be attached 

Scope of Work  
OpenCities has removed the risk and effort of traditional web and intranet redesign projects 

by developing a repeatable process of engagement, content, and digital services delivery.  

Local governments often ask: 

 How can we be sure we are choosing the right strategy and technology for our needs? 

 How can we assure that we will not see change orders that affect our deadlines and budget? 

 How do we make sure our new digital presence meets all our goals, and is one we can be proud 

of? 

OpenCities is the answer. We continuously refine our technology and onboarding process through our 

experience partnering with local governments just like yours. For your engagement, you will be assigned 

an experienced project manager and complementing project team, who utilize an agile implementation 

approach supported by a simple online project management dashboard that makes it easy for everyone 

to track project status. 

Timeline  
As a SaaS solution that does not require custom development, OpenCities can be fully delivered and 
ready for content within a matter of weeks. The primary variable for launch is based on the amount of 
time needed by the city or county for the visual design process, the number of initial consulting 
packages in the engagement, and the availability of staff for the content entry and migration process. 
The sample timeline below demonstrates a three- to five-month project, however our agile and iterative 
methodology allows us to increase or decrease the project length to meet your launch goals. As a point 
of reference, we have completed a project in as little as three months. 
  

 
Project Phase 1: Kickoff, Discovery, and Data Analysis  

OpenCities and the client come together as a team to mutually confirm the process, establish clarity 

on who does what, determine the dates for key meetings and deliverables, and lay the groundwork 

for a successful project 

Deliverables: 

✓ Kick off meeting  

✓ Data and Analytics  

✓ Content Migration Strategy 

✓ Content Audit (discussion and clarification)  



27 
 

✓ Survey of users (optional) 

✓ Executive Briefing (optional) 

City Responsibilities: 

✓ Define your team, identify key skills and responsibilities, and start auditing your own content  

 

Project Phase 2: Design, Configuration, and Content Migration 

OpenCities project team and the client will share assets and work to align and deliver a look and 

feel that reflects the spirit and goals of the city while leveraging the best practices for effective site 

layout and design. 

Deliverables: 

✓ Create and configure the site instance  

✓ Configure general location information  

✓ Two design concepts / up to three rounds of iteration. Proposal includes using same theme for 

intranet.  

✓ Homepage and theme design review  

✓ Design finalization and implementation 

✓ If you purchase Content Migration from OpenCities, that will be completed during this phase. 

Contract includes for up to 300 pages and 2000 documents at no cost (per incentive). Additional 

pages and/or documents may require an additional fee. 

 

City Responsibilities: 

✓ Provide design assets 

✓ Provide feedback and approval of design  

✓ Complete content audit 

 

Content Migration  

This two-part package includes Content Migration Discovery/Strategy and Content Migration 

Delivery. This package is optional and best suited for cities or counties that need assistance moving 

page content and/or images and document from the old system.  



28 
 

Content Migration Discovery/Strategy (Phase 1) 

In this strategy session, we will identify the proper OpenCities template for each page, note any 

inconsistencies or custom templates, communicate how we will address certain elements of the 

content, and review all of this with the team lead or core team. 

Content Migration Delivery (Phase 2) 

Once we have agreed upon a strategy and a timeline, our team of migrators will get to it and work 

to deliver your project by the designated deadline. At the end, you will receive: 

✓ Access to the system with all agreed pages moved over 

✓ A recap document that details anything your team should know about what we migrated as well 

as recommendations 

City Responsibilities: 

✓ Complete an AIM Spreadsheet (provided by OpenCities) listing all pages in hierarchical order 

classified as either Archive, Improve or Migrate 

✓ Identify individual or team with the ability to clarify questions and promptly make decisions 

about migration questions  

✓ Provide a desired folder structure for files (if contracted) 

What’s IN scope? 

✓ Content managed within your current CMS 

✓ Documents/images (if contracted) 

What’s NOT in scope 

✗ Anything within an iFrame or embedded HTML content 

✗ Dynamic content from other systems unless specified in proposal 

✗ Content not managed within CMS 

✗ JavaScript, CSS, or other custom code, unless specified in proposal 

✗ Interactive web forms and/or single page applications 

✗ Written content within image/diagram 

✗ Content contained inside a PDF file 

✗ Documents and images on pages marked “Archive” 

 

Project Phase 3: Training 

OpenCities provides training based on the types of outcomes that City wants to achieve with 

OpenCities. To meet your goals of training staff, this sessions is provided for a groups of 20 to the 

appropriate users based on their roles/permissions, virtually due to covid-19. 



29 
 

Deliverables: 

✓ Content Publisher training  

✓ OpenForms training  

✓ Site Administrator training  

✓ OpenCities Help Center orientation 

✓ Training programs for 20 staff (single session) 

City Responsibilities: 

✓ Identify attendees for training  

✓ Ensure attendance by staff at training  

✓ Identify power users who will operate as internal “trainers” for ongoing internal governance best 

practices 

 

Project Phase 4: Content Creation Review and Beta Launch 

Migrate or create quality content for the now fully designed and configured website. Engage staff in 

owning their pages and web content. Convert static PDFs into dynamic digital forms. 

Deliverables: 

✓ Content migration, improvement, or creation by the city  

✓ Support of content migration process by OpenCities  

✓ Beta launch (optional) 

City Responsibilities: 

✓ Creating, improving, or migrating the web content to arrive at the desired outcome for their site 

✓ Champion ongoing participation by staff to produce the best possible results 

 



30 
 

✓ Monitor feedback post launch and use it to continuously improve the site 

 

 

Project Phase 5: Launch, Evolve, Support 

Launch the new website, gather community response and feedback, continue to improve content 

based on feedback. 

Deliverables: 

✓ Launch checklist 

✓ URL mappings for top pages 

✓ SSL certificates issued 

✓ Update DNS 

✓ Submit sitemap 

✓ Launch the new site!  

✓ Project review 

City Responsibilities: 

✓ Finalize review and proofreading of the site 

✓ Fully participate in resolution of launch checklist items 

✓ Coordinate launch and announcements to the community 

✓ Post-launch survey (optional) 





 

 






	13 April 2021 City Council Agenda
	Public Hearing - District Elections
	RI-1, Minutes
	RI-2, Personnel Transactions
	RI-3, Register of Demands
	RI-4, Council Committees' Activities
	RI-5, Maintenance Services by NSWC for Burns HVAC System
	RI-6, PSA for Plant 27 Treatment System Rewiring
	RI-7, PSA for SCADA System Maintenance
	1.1, CDBG Action Plan for FY2021-22
	1.2, Award of Bid for PW2021-1
	2.1, Signature Resolutions
	3.1, Website Content Management System
	LHSA-1, Register of Demands



